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I, Maurice J. Hattier, Jr., Special Agent, Federal Bureau.of Investigation ("FBI"),.being duly 

sworn, depose and say: 

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

1. I have been employed by the FBI since approximately October 1996. 

2. I am presently assigned to a white collar crime squad in the San Diego Field Office. During 

ny approximately nine years as a Special Agent, I have investigated numerous whte collar crime cases, 

.ncluding wire fiaud, money laundering, financial institution fraud, bankruptcy fraud and mail fraud. 

3. Prior to becoming a Special Agent, I was employed for almost three years as an investigative 

iuditor for the State of Louisiana In that capacity, I participated almost exclusively in the investigation 

>f public corruption cases. 

4. During my years with the FBI, I have received specialized training in the investigation and 

 rosec cut ion of various types of criminal violations. While at the FBI- Academy in Quantico Virginia, 

: received training in conducting complex inv&tigations and the preparation and execution of search 

vanants. 

5. I received my B.S. in accounting from Southeastern Louisiana University. Following 

~aduation, I passed the Certified Public Accountants examination. 

6. I have participated in the execution of dozens of search warrants as an FBI Special Agent. On 

virtually every occasion, I sought financial records, business records, ledgers, customer records, 

Lomputer discs and computerigenerated data. I have served as the affiant on approximately 10 search 

warrants. 

7. Based upon my training and experience, my review of documents and other relevant 

information I believe to be reliable, witness interviews, and discussions with other agents from the FBi, 

the United States Internal Revenue Service ("IRS"), and the Defense Criminal Investigative Service 
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("DCIS"), I believe that there is probable cause to believe that Congressman Randall 33. Cunningham, 

aka Duke, akaDuke Cunningham, aka the Dukester, Mitchell Wade, Brent Wilkes, Joel Combs, Thomas 

Theodore Kontogiannis, aka Tommy K, MZM, Inc., John Michael, ADCS, Inc., 1523 New Hampshire, 

LLC, Coastal Capital doing business as Home Capital Assurance; The Mortgage Shop ("Coastal 

Capital"), Parkview Financial, Inc., Axxion Mortgage Corp., and other individuals and entities have 

violated the following federal laws, among others: (1) Bribery in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 201; (2) Making False Claims in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 287; 

(3) Making False Statements or Concealing Facts in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

1001; (4) Mail Fraud in violation of Tide 18, United States Code, Section 1341; (5) Wire Fraud in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; (6) Honest Services Fraudin violation of Title 

18, United States Code, Section 1346; (7) Money Laundering in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Sections 1956 and 1957; (8) Tax Evasion in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 

7201; and (9) Conspiracy to commit the above listed offenses in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 371. 

8. Based upon my training and experience, areview of documents and other relevant information 

I beiieve to be reliable, witness interviews, and discussions with other IRS, DCIS, and FBI Special 

Agents, I believe that there is probable cause to believe that now located at 1 Cross Island Plaza, Suite 

LL6, Rosedale, NY 11422 (more particularly described in Attachment "A1') are fruits, evidence, and 

instrumentalities (more particularly described in Attachment "B") of the above-listed criminal offenses 

against the United States. 

9. Unless otherwise indicated, wherever in this affidavit I assert that a statement was made, I 

mean that I either personally heard the statement or the information was provided to me by an actual 

witness to the statement or another law enforcement agent to whom I have spoken, or whose report 1 

have read. Such statements are described in substance and in part, unless otherwise indicated 

Furthermore, the facts and circumstances of this investigation have been summarized for the specific 

purpose of the warrants sought herein. Because this affidavit is submitted for the limited purpose oi 

obtaining search warrants for the items set forth below, I have not set forth each and every known facl 

pertinent to this investigation. 



BACKGROUND 

A. RANDALL "DUKE" CUNNINGHAM 

10. Randall "Duke" Cunningham was born in Los.Angeles on December 8, 1941. After a short 

stint as a high school swimming coach, he joined the Navy in 1966. He served as a decorated combat 

pilot in the Vietnam War and retired from the military in 1987. He was first e{ected to Congress 1990. 

In 2004, he was reelected to serve his eighth term, represtinting what has become California's 50h 

Congressional District. 

11. As noted on his own Congressional website, Cunningham is a "powerful" member of the 

House of Representatives.ll According to various agents with the DCIS and several other witnesses, 

Cunningham has, far years, been in a position where he can bring significant influence to bear on the 

awarding of a wide-variety of Department of Defense ("DoD) contracts. 

B. MITCHELL J. WADE 

12. According to information provided by Mitchell Wade, after graduating college, he was hired 

(in approximately 1984) as a civilian employee at the D o D . ~  While employed at the DoD, Wade was 

actively involved in command and control projects, including ones relating to the counter-narcotics 

programs.3/ He worked very closely with the Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA") on these 

projects and was actively involved in human intelligence 

13. Upon leaving the DoD, in 1993, Wade opened MZM, Inc. ("%EM"), which maintains its 

principal ofice at 1523 New Hampshire Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20036-6120. MZM's 

i/ Before it was recently placed "under construction," Cunningham's Top Gun, Inc. website 
noted that "he serves as an influential member" of the House. 

It should be noted that Mitchell Wade provided information to the Government pursuant 
to a "proffer agreement" This agreement prohibits the Government from using against Wade directly 
at trial, the statements and information that he provided. It does not, however, extend any protections 
to any other individuals, and it explicitly permits derivative use of the information that Wade provided- 

3' Beginning in approximately March 1987, Wade served as a Commissioned Intelligence 
Officer in the U.S. Naval Reserves. In the 1990's, he received an Honorable Discharge as a Lieutenant 
Commander. 

4/ - According to recent interviews conducted by investigators with current and former DoD 
employees, Wade was also employed with a DoD entity h o w n  as the Defense Testing and Evaluation 
Support Activity (DTESA). At DTESA, Wade supported several classified programs. 
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website indicates that the firm is a defense contractcr that offers a "wide range of products and services 

designed to address all manner of national security issues." 

14. According to corporate records databases, MZM was incorporated as a Nevada corporation on 

or about September 29, 1993. MZM's President, Treasurer, and Secretary are all listed as Mitchell J. 

Wade. According to Wade, he owns the vast majority (90 plus percent) of MZM. IRS records indicate 

that Mitchell Wade is the owner of MZM. 

15. A review of DoD Central Contract Registration records confirms that MZM was founded on 

September 28,1993 and is physically located at 1523 New Hampshire Avenue, N.W., Washington D.C., 

20036-6120. These,records list Mitchell Wade as both the primary and altemate points of contacts for 

"Government Business7' and "Past Performance." The records list Wade as the primary point of contact 

for ''I3ectronic Business," and his wife, Christiane Wade as the alternate point of conta~t.~' 

16. - , DoD records reveal that a short time prior to October 18, 2002, the Defense Information 

Systems Agency ('BISA") awardedMZM a blanket purchase agreement ("BPA") under contract number 

DCA200-02-A-50 16. This BPA provides a contracting mechanism that allows various DoD (and other 

federal agencies) to purchase from MZM a wide array of program and project management support and 

services related to diverse fields, including homeland security and law enforcemenL6/ 

5/ In June 2005, after Cunningham's ties to Wade were. exposed in the press, MZM 
announced that Frank Bragg, former Chief Operating Officer, was taking over as acting Resident. 
Thereafter, MZM announced that Bragg had resigned and yet another employee, James King, had taken 
over as President. Recently, the company was sold to the private equity firm Veritas Capital, an 
investment firm focused on companies with federal government contracts. It has been reported in the 
press that Veritas will move MZM's employees and existing contracts into a new company, Athena 
Innovative Solutions, Inc. 

According to DISA's website, the BPA could be used for "[p]rogram and project 
management support, concept evaluation, vulnerability and risk assessment& methodology analysis and 
development, requirements analysis, analysis of alternatives, data analysis, data acquisition, acquisition 
and evaluation of COTWGOTS software/hardware, and studies and analyses in the areas of: Homeland 
Security Analytical and Training Support; Critical Infrastructure Protection Planning and Analysis; 
Fusion Support and Planning and Execution; Infomation Operations Planning Support; Law 
Enforcement Planning and Analysis; Systems btegration and Information Technology; Policy 
Development and Legal Analysis; Federal Liaison and Public; Business Process and Organizational 
Management Planning; Geospatial Information Integration; Document Exploitation; Measurement and 
Signature Intelligence; and All Source Intelligence and Analysis Support." 
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17. On October 18,2002, according to DoD contract records, MZM received its first task order 

under the BPA- This task order was in the amount of $194,000 and caIIed for MZM to supply 

telecommunications services. 

18. During the 2003 fiscal year (October 2002 thru September 2003), MZM's fortunes changed 

radically. That year the company received 20 separate task orders, totaling $38,606,063. In 2004, this 

trend continued, and MZM received 56 separate tasks orders, totaling $65,330,205. In its corporate 

website, MZM stated that the company experienced significant growth in 2004, tripling revenues since 

the beginning of the year and increasing staff by 285 percent- The site also noted that the company 

looked forward to continued growth in 2005. To date, MZh4 has received approximately $121,353,077 

in various task orders. 

19. In 2005, according to Washington Technology (a bi-weekly journal covering government 

technology contracting), NIZM became the 100"' largest government information technology contractor 

with revenues of $66,181,872- Of these revenues, $65,718,599 was attributable to contracts with DoD. 

Jn,other words, more than 99 percent of IvIZM's revenues were directly attributable to 

contracts . 

20. Washington Technology indicated that MZM's core business was comprised of homeland 

security, critical infrastructure security, national security affairs, information operations, force protection, 

law enforcement affairs, integration and innovation, legal support, information technology, 

Congressional affairs and communications. 

21. According to publicly available campaign finance information, E/IZM, together with its Political 

Action Committee ("PAC") andemployees, has been one of Cunningham's largest contributors in recent 

election c y ~ l e s . ~  In addition, as detailed below, Wade has given Cunningham numerous personal 

benefits worth over $1 million, including purchasing a house from Cunningham at an inflated price, 

giving Cunningham over $600,000, and purchasing for Cunningham a Rolls Royce, antiques, oriental 

21 According to records obtained from the Federal Elections Commission ("FEC") and 
publicly available databases such as those compiled by the Center for Responsive Politics (see 
www.o~ensecrets.ord, MZh4, including its PAC and employees, has been a major contributor to 
Cunningham, and is listed as the fourth largest contributor for Cunningham's 2004 congressional 
campaign. The Government has also obtained checks drawn on Mitchell Wade's Navy Federal Credit 
Union Bank account revealing thousands of dollars of payments to "Friends of Duke Cunningham." 



carpets, trips, meals, wine, and two boats, most, if not all, upon Cunningham's demand. According to 

Wade, he gave Cunningham these and other benefits with the understanding that in return, Cunningham 
. . 

would use his influence to help'MZM secure millions of dollars of defense contracts. 

C. BRENT WILKES 

22. According to the Automated Document Conversion Software (generally referred to by the 

acronym, ADCS) Evaluation Final Report issued by the Deputy Under Secretary of Defense (Logistics), 
j 

"[iln fiscal year 1994, Congress directed DoD to acquire and test an automated document conversion 

system for the purpose of converting archival drawings currently in the DoD inventory into forms of data 

that support high-level intelligent usage." As a result of this evaluation, Congress provided funding 

(through the Defense Printing Service) to facilitate the conversion of their "paper" records and 

documents to electronic fbrm. The Defense Printing Service, in turn, entered into long term BPAs with 

several data conversion companies. These BPAs provided an easy contracting mechanism allowing 

Government agencies to facilitate their data conversion activities. 

23. According to its corporate website, ADCS, Inc. ("ADCS") was founded in 1995. It appears 

that the name ADCS is derived from the Government acronym for the DoD Automated Document 

Conversion Software program. Not surprisingly, the company, ADCS, specializes in converting paper 

records into electronic form. 

24. Historically, ADCS's corporate website has listed Brent Wilkes as its Pre~ident.~ Its 

corporate office is located at 13970 Stowe Drive, Poway, California 92064, and its federal contracting 

office is located at 14020Thunderbolt Place, Suite 200, Chantilly, Virginia2015 1. Its corporate website 

indicates that ADCS "is the unchallenged leader in developing and providing a total enterprise solution 

combining data capture and indexing, data conversion, and information management."g/ 

As of August 1, 2005, however, Brent Wilkes's name had been removed, and Mike 
Williams was listed as CEO. Nevertheless, it appears that Wilkes is still President of the Wilkes 
Corporation. According to its website, The Wilkes Corporation "provides leadership, knowledge and 
personnel for technology and defense-related business enterprises" [and] supports multiple companies 
including ADCS Inc., Mailsafe, Mirror Labs, Group W Outfitters, Group W Media, Group W Advisors, 
Group W Transportation, Group W Holdings, A1 Dust Properties LLC, IDEA, PKMI, Akamai Info Tech, 
and Perfect Wave Technologies, LLC. 

According to information obtained from The Wilkes Foundation's website, Wilkes 
(continued..) 



25. According to DCIS Special Agent Jerry Crosby, shortly after its formation, ADCS was awarded 

a contract by the DefensePrinting Service to perform document conversion services related to the United 

States transfer of ownership and control of the Panama Canal. A substantial portion of this contract 

[approximately $9 million) was for the actual purchase of data conversion equipment that was to be 

installed in both Panama and in San Diego, ~ a l i f o m i a . ~  

26. In 1999, DoD records' reveal that DISA awarded ADCS a BPA under contract number 

GS35F0540J. This BPA provides a contracting mechanism that $lows various DoD (and other federal 

agencies) to purchase from ADCS a wide army of program and project management support and 

services related to diverse fields, including homeland security and law enforcement. 

27. On July 16,1999, according to DoD contract records, ADCS received its frrst task order under 

the BPA. This task order was in the amount of $5,194,000 and called for ADCS to provide data 

conversion services for the National Ground Intelligence Center ("NGIC") FIRES program. According 

to the Pentagon, the FIRES program was initiated by NGIC which was attempting to build an 

inteIligence database comprising blueprints of important buildings around the world. 

28. During the 2000 fiscal year (October 1999 thru September 2000), the amount of Government 

contracts awarded to ADCS increased exponentially. That year the company received 8 separate DoD 

task orders, totaling $25,744,573. These task orders involved the general areas of data conversion and 

consolidation. 

29. In fiscal year 2001, DoD awarded ADCS 6 separate tasks orders, totaling $22,791,889. In 

fiscal years 2002 and 2003, the amount of DoD contracts awarded to ADCS declined to $10,427,848 

and $929,969, respective1y.a' However, in fiscal year 2004, the DoD contracts awarded to ADCS 

2'(...continued) 
graduated from San Diego State University and "has been a mqnber of the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants." He held various positions with a number of financial companies in 
Washington D.C., including Deloitte, Haskins & Sells and Arthur Anderson, prior to starting ADCS. 

In 1997, DoD records also reveal that ADCS was awarded a multi-million dollarcontract 
to purchase VP Max Software for the U.S. Government. 

"' ADCS received additional DoD contract dollars as a subcontractor to MZM, including, 
as discussed below, a Collaboration Data Storage Center being built for the Counterintelligence Field 
Activity ("CIFA"), 



increased to $15,485,000. In total, ADCS was awarded approximately $80,573,279 from theDoD under 

the BPA.u 

30. According to publicly available campaign finance information, ADCS, together with its 

Political Action Committee ("PAC") and exniloyees, has been another large supporter of Congressman 

Cunningham-'3/ In addition, as detailed below, Wilkes appears to have given Cunningham substantial 

additional benefits, including a $525,000 payment, numerous meals, travel benefits and other gifts. In 

my opinion, as was the case with Mitchell Wade, these benefits were given to Cunningham with the 

understanding and expectation that in return, the Congressman would use his influence to help ADCS 

secure millions of dollars of defense contracts. 

D. TOMMY KONTOGIANNIS 

3 1. Thomas Theodore Kontogiannis was born in Greece on November 1, 1948. According to 

published reports, he served in the Greek navy prior to emigrating to the United States in 1970. Since 

that time, Kontogiannis has become associated with scores of different businesses. These businesses 

appear to operate in diverse areas including construction, property management, and mortgage 

brokerage. 

32. A review of records from the North Fork Bank reveal that Kontogiannis has over 70 separate 

bank accounts at this one single financial institution. Based upon my preliminary review, I believe that 

many, if not all, of these accounts are related and used by Kontogiannis to launder proceeds of illegal 

activity. 

33. Despite his many businesses and bank accounts, Kontogiannis'has not filed an income tax 

return since the 2001 tax year. In that year, he filed a IRS Form1040 indicating that he had: (1) wages 

of $52,000; (2) Schedule D gains of $1,377,399; (3) Schedule E losses of $30'4374; and (4) other 

'2/ According to Wade, almost all of these awards came from Congressionally earmarked 
funds. Wade is knowledgeable about ADCS's activities as MZM acted as aconsultant, a subcontractor, 
and a prime contractor to ADCS over the years. 

131 - According to records obtained from the Federal Elections Commission ('FEC") and 
publicly available databases such as those compiled by the Center for Responsive Politics (see 
www.opensecrets.or~, ADCS, inchding its PAC and employees, has been a major contributor to 
Cunningham, and his PACs. These records also indicate that Wilkes donated $11,960 to the ADCS 
PAC. _ _ --- - 



ncome losses of $1,707,43 1. After taking into account other adjustments, Kontogiannis's return showed 

m overall loss of $583,387. 

34. A review of law enforcement indices reveals that Kontogiannis was arrested (along with an 

3fficiaI from the United States Embassy) on May 30, 1993 and charged with immigration fraud, false 

statements, visa fraud, bribery and conspiracy. Thereafter, Kontogiannis pled guilty to conspiracy to 

smuggle illegal aliens into the United States. On September 14,1994, he was sentenced to five years 

probation, fined $12,000, and placed on three months house arrest. 

35. In 2000, the Queens County District Attorney's Office in New York was investigating 

Kontogiannis and others for their involvement in a scheme to rig bids, pay bribes, receive kickbacks and 

fix New York Board of Education contracts to supply millions of dollars of computers to the public 

school system. On October 19,2000, Cunningham wrote to the QueensDistrict Attorney (on his United 

States Congress Letterhead) asserting "that there may be a political agenda being waged [in this matter 

and that] Mr. Kontogiannis is being allegedly victimized." In the letter, he also indicates that h e  has 

'filed a congressional inquiry with Chairman Henry Hyde of the House Judiciary Committee on this 

matter." 

36. On October 31,2000, Kontogiannis was arrested (along with four other individuals and five 

:orporations) for charges stemming out of the bid rigging scheme. Subsequently, Kontogiannis and 

several of his related businesses, including Brookville PlazaManagement Inc., Olympicorp International 

and Group Kappa Corp., were chargedin a 123-Count Indictment (no. 2883/2000) filedin the New York 

Supreme Court, County of Queens. Among other things, the Indictment charged Kontogiannis with 

Grand Larceny, Conspiracy, Bribery and falsifying records. 

37. On October 18,2002, Kontogiannis, OlympicorpInternational and Group KappaCorp.(among 

others) pled guilty in Queens County Superior Court to Scheme to Defraud (in the 2& Degree), an 

Attempted Donnelly Act violation; and Giving Unlawful Gratuities-H In his plea, Kontogiannis 

141 - Although charged, Brookville Plaza Management, Inc., appears to have received a 
conditional discharge on the condition that they execute and comply with the terms of a Stipulation of 
Settlement with Prejudice that was pending in the United States District Court for theEastern District 
of New York. 



admitted to taking part in a compt scheme to rig bids, pay bribes and receive kickbacks in order to 

influence the awarding of school computer contracts.9 

38. On or about September 6,2005, InterAmerican Mortgage Corporation agreed to reimburse the 

Department of Housing and Urban Development ('MUD") for as much as $2 million for making 

fraudulent home mortgage loans to 19 home buyers. According to public information, InterAmerican 

falsified income, asset and down payment information which enabled the purchasers to qualify for larger 

mortgages than they could otherwise afford. Between 1993 and 1995, at the time the fraudulent 

mortgages were issued, InterAmerica was called Olympic Mortgage Corporation and was controlled by 

Kontogiannis and his wife, Georgia. 

39. As detailed below, Kontogiannis appears to have assisted Cunningham by utilizing his various 

businesses to launder over a million dollars in bribe payments made by Mitch Wade and Brent Wilkes. 

It also appears that he provided additional benefits in the form of maintaining -and repairing 

Cunningham's boat, the Kelly C. In my opinion, as was the case with Wade and Wilkes, these benefits 

were given to Cunningham with the understanding and expectation that in return, the Congressman 

would use his influence to help Kontogiannis whenever possible. 

m. 
STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. BRIBES TO CUNNINGHAM 

40. On June 12,2005, the San Diego Union-Tribune newspaper reported that in November 2003, 

Cunningham had sold his Del Mar, California home to an entity controlled by Wade. The newspaper 

reported that the sales price was $1,675,000, and that Wade had taken a loss of $700,000 when he resold 

the home approximately 11 months 1ater.N According to published press reports, on or about June 12 

'5/ As part of a plea agreement, it appears that Kontogiannis may have again received a 
probationary sentence. It also appears that the Defendants had to pay $4.8 inillion in restitution that was 
partially secured by a mortgage on the property located at 1 Cross Island Plaza, Rosedale, New York. 

161- - It should also be noted that Wade apparently sustained this loss despite a very favorable 
real estate market for sellers. According to published reports, some local real estate agents indicated that 
double-digit amciat ion rates were common throughout San Diego County during the 2003 - 2004 time 
period. 



and June 13,2005, Cunningham denied any impropriety in the' transaction, denied any special friendship 

with Wade,x' and denied having exerted any influence to ever favor Wade's company, MZM. 

41. In these press reports, Cunningham described himself as beyond even the appearance of 

impropriety in his dealings with contractors: ."If a contractor buys me lunch and we meet a second time, 

I buy the lunch." Cunningham also denied that the November 2003 sales price had been inflated in order 

to transfer covertly money from Wade to him, claiming that the sales price was well-founded and based 

upon objective information: 'Mr. Wade was interested in purchasing our home. He received 

cornparables from an independent source establishing the value of the home. He made an offer based 

on that evaluation. Nancy [Cunningham's wife] and I accepted that offer. I have no reason to believe 

the value of the house was inflated then, and I have no reason to think so today." 

42. On June 23, 2005, Cunningham released a statement, claiming, among other things, that 

"Elizabeth Todd, a realtor with the Willis Allen Company in Del Mar, California set the asking price 

for our home." Cunningham claimed that "in 2003, lLIIZkl was actively seeking space for its operations 

close to Miramar Marine Corps Air Station," and continued: 

Mr. Wade shared with me that his company hoped to acquire space where he could locate highly 
secure communications equipment along with quarters for employees visiting from other sites. I 
informed Mr. Wade that Nancy and I were contemplating selling our home in the Del Mar Heights 
neighborhood, which 1s close to Miramar. After learning about the size and location of our property, 
Mr. Wade advised me that MZM w k l d  be interested in purchasing our house. I understand that 
MZM wanted the property for use as an office and as corporate housing until such time as MZM 
could locate more secure facilities for its operations at one of the military installations in the San 
Diego area. However, my understanding was that MZM would retain ownership of the property for 
use as corporate housing even if Mr. Wade was able to locate a more secure facility for their office 
operations at Miramar. 

43. AS described more fully below, there is substantial evidence that Cunningham's version of ,his 

relationship with Wade and the Del Mar home sale - and his denial as to exerting influence on behalf 

of Wade - are demonstrably false. In fact, evidence exists that Cunningham demanded, and Wade and 

Wilkes provided over $2 million in bribes in exchange for Cunningham using his office to influence the 

awarding of public funds to the defense contractors' companies. A number of these bribes provided by 

Wilkes ahd Wade (and the role played by companies owned or controlled by Tommy Kontogiannis) are 

discussed below in "rough" chronological order. 

I T  - In a later published statement, Cunningham stated that the Wades were good family 
friends with the Cunninghams. 
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(1) Meals (1997.. . .) 
44. - . According to Wade, Wilkes introduced him to Cunningham in approximately 1997 - 1 9 9 8 . ~  

On many occasions, either Wilkes andor Joel Combs (another ADCS executive) invited Wade to dine 

with them and Cunningham. Wade stated that one of their frequent dinner haunts was the Capital Grille 

in Washington, D.C. 

45. Wade described these occasions as "big ticket dinners," costing thousands of dollars. He also 

indicated that attractive female employees -of ADCS were often invited and a lot of alcohol was 

,~onsumed. According to Wade, Cunningham never paid for any part of these meals. Soon thereafter, 

Wade also began treating Cunningham to expensive meals. 

(2) Resort and Golf Outinm (August 2001 . . . .) 
46. According to inforhation provided by a local San Diego attorney, for years Brent Wilkes has 

given Cunningham illegal, undeclared personal benefits such as gifts, paid vacations, dinners, golf 

outings and hotel accommodations in Coeur d'Alene, Idaho, Acting on the basis of this information, 

the Government obtained records from The Coeur d'Alene Resort. These records reflect that Wilkes 

frequently used the resort to entertain business associates, including Cunningham. 

47. Among these records was a booking recap sheet that referenced an August 2003 reservation 

by ADCS. In the comments area, the booking recap notes that the group being brought in by Wilkes 

"is very important to the future welI-being ofhis company." The purpose of the meeting was "[tlo show 

[ADCS ' s] appreciation to key governmental figures who assist p i k e s ]  in governmental contracts." 

ADCS's bilt for this stay was apparently $21,366. 

48. According to an email from ADCS employee Melissa Dollaghan (dated July 20,200 l), ADCS 

arranged for a vacation in Coeur d' Alene between August 17 and 21,2001 that involved Cunningham 

and his wife, Nancy Cunningham. Among other things, the email contains an itineraryreflecting various 

Around this time, MZM became a consultant to ADCS. According to Wade, the 
partnership made sense as Wilkes had the congressional contacts (including Cunningham) and Wade 
had the knowledge of the way the intelligence community . . operated. 



activities that Cunningham andfor his wife would attend.2' For example, both Cunningham and his wife 

were to attend a dinner at Cedar Restaurant on the 17th and a dinner at Beverly's restaurant on the 18th, 

while only Cunningham would be participating in a golf tournament on the 19th. Finally, the email also 

indicates the tentative participation of Trey Hardin (Cunningham's then Chief of Staff) and various other 

ADCS employees a, Combs, ArnisBorromeo, Carlos Campos, Larry Wilkes, Mike Williams, and 

Dennis Wise) in the golf tournament.a 

49. In addition, Wade stated that Wilkes would routinely fly Cunningham from Washington to 

meeting places across the counhy. For example, Wade indicated that Wilkes was involved with 

Cunningham stays in Idaho, Palm Springs, Hawaii, and Las Vegas. 

50. According to Wade, he attended a meeting at the Las Vegas Four Seasons Hotel with Wilkes. 

It is Wade's belief that Wilkes flew Cunningham to Las Vegas and picked up the hotel tab for 

Cunningham and Trey Hardin. On this occasion, Wade observed Wilkes and Combs gambling with 

Cunningham. According to Wade, Wilkes had purchased a large amount of chips and appeared to be 

playing together with Cunningham. 

51. A review of publicly listed campaign contributions reveals that (since 2001) Cunningham did, 

m fact, declare the receipt of many trips from "Group 'W' ~rans~ortation."~The records indicate that 

the aggregate amount of the reimbursement was $15,674.= The records, however, do not appear to 

account for all travel, a, the 2003 trip to Idaho discussed above - that does not appear to have been 

paid for by the Congressman. 

I/ 

191 - The email does not spell out ~ a n c ~  cunningham's name, rather it uses the initials "NC," 
which, according to Wade, refers to Nancy Cunningham. 

2w - According to additional documents obtained from The Coeur d'Alene Resort, 
Cunningham was also part of a Wilkes resort weekend in August 2002. According to these records, 
Cunningham participated in a golf event. on August 20,2002. Also playing in Cunningham's group 
were Wilkes and Combs. 

211 - An individual answering the telephone for Group W indicatedthat it was located at 13970 
Stowe Drive in Poway. I have also reviewed numerous published reports that state that Group W 
Transportation is owned by Brent Wilkes. 

w - It must be stressed that Members of Congress are permitted to take privately owned 
corporate jets to campaign events if they reimburse the donor. the equivalent of first-class commercial 
air fare to the location. 

. - . -. .. . . . . . . 

-13- OTG-S WCIP-0248005 3 



(3) Arlineton Condominium (November 2001) 

52. In mid-200 1, Cunningham attended a dinner at Tommy Kontogiannis's residence located at 

12 Woodfield Lane, Glen Head, New York. In addition to Cunningham, the others in attendance were 

members of the Kontogiannis family, including Kontogiannis's wife, Georgia Kontogiannis, his 

daughters, Lisa Kontogiannis and Annette Apergis, and his nephew, John ~ i c h a e l . ~  

53- According to Michael, Cunningham allegedly told him during this dinner that he was "looking 

to buy a condominium in Virginia [but] couldn't get financing . . . ." In response, Michael stated that 

he agreed to help the Congressman obtain financing for the condominium. At this time, Michael stated 

that Cunningham was aware that he was the President and Chief Executive Officer of Coastal Capital 

Corporation (Coastal Capital) - a mortgage broker located at 1 Plaza Road, Greenvale, NY 11548. 

54. According to Mchael, in April 2000, he purchased Coastal Capital along with his cousin, Lisa 

Kontogiannis, for $300,000.24/ Michael put up $50,000 and Lisa Kontogiannis put up the remainder. 

In addition, Lisa Kontogiannis put up $3.6 million in working capital that she obtained from a trust set 

up by her parents, Thomas and Georgia Kontogiannis. 

55. Due to the financing of the company, Lisa Kontogiannis owns 70 percent of the cornpaiy and 

Michael owns 30 percent. However, Michael stated that his cousin was a silent partner and that she 

didn't even know how to spell the word mortgage, In exchange for her investment, hsadraws an annual 

salary of $87,000, and receives a K-1 distribution from Coastal Capital. In addition, Coastal Capital 

pays $1,600 per month in rent on Lisa's house and $600 per month for leasing her a car.= 

56. Michael told federal investigators that Coastal Capital did, in fact, handle the financing for the 

purchase of the Cunninghams condominium located at 121 1 Eads Street South, Unit 2002, Arlington 

Michael told federal agents that he was first introduced to Cunningham by his Uncle 
Tommy Kontogiannis. The initial meeting took place between 1998 and 2000 at a convention i~ 
Washington, D.C. Thereafter, in either 1999 or 2000, he meet Cunningham at a Washington fun1 
raiser. In April of 2001, he again spoke with Cunningham at the wedding of Kontogiannis's daughte~ 
Annette. 

24/ Prior to purchasing Coastal Capital, Michael was president of InterAmerican Mortgag 
Corp. ("InterAmerican"). Michael stated that InterAmerican was owned by his aunt, Geord 
Kontogiannis, the wife of Thomas Kontogiannis. 

251 - A review of tax records reveal that Lisa Kontogiannis's K-1 distribution from Coast 
Capital for 2003 was $4,788,159. . . . 



Virginia. The Coastal Capital file (no. 7131458) reveals that (on or about November 2, 2001), the 

Cunninghams signed an agreement to purchase the condominium from Joseph M. Dellaratta for 

$350,000. . 

57. The Coastal Capital records provided by Michael also reveal that (on or about November 6, 

2001) the Cunningham's signed an application to obtain a $150,000 loan from Coastal Capital and that 

(on or about October 9, 2001), Michael wrote a letter to the Cunninghams pre-approving them for a 

jumbo,loan in the amount of $350,000. On November 2,2001, the Cunninghams signed a Regional 

Sales Contract indicating that they were going to purchase Unit 2002 for $350,000. In this contact, the 

Cunninghams indicated that they were going to put down $35,000 and obtain financing for the remaining 

$3 15,000. 

58. A review of the United States Housing Settlement Statement reveals that: (1) the purchase price 

for the Eads Street condominium was approximately $355,672.81 (including closing costs, taxes and 

fees); (2) Coastal Capital supplied a mortgage on the property of $150,000; (3) the purchaser had 

supplied $10,000 in earnest money; and (4) the remaining hnds consisted of $200,000 that was on 

deposit with Coastal Capital. The Settlement Statement also revealed that at closing the borrower (i-e., 

the Cunninghams) was due $4,327.19. . .- 

59. According to Michael, Cunningham supplied the $200,000 from the $10,000 earnest money 

plus three different checking andlor savings accounts. Michael stated that the total available funds in 

these accounts was $194,896 (as reflected on a loan application filled out by Cunningham on November 

30,2001). Thus, Michael stated that after the transaction Cunningham would have ended up with the 

condominium and approximately $5,000 left over in his bank accounts. Michael also denied that 

Tommy Kontogiannis had any involvement with this mortgage.= 

261 - However, an analysis of records obtained from the Union Bank of California and the 
Congressional Federal Credit Union reveal that the three bank accounts listed on Cunningham's loan 
application, as of the listeddate, actually hadonly $134,742.81 on deposit. In other words, Cunningham 
overstated his available funds in these three accounts by more than $60,000 or almost 50 percent. In 
performing this analysis, I also used the funds contained in several bank accounts not listed on 
Cunningham's loan application. If the analysis was limited to just the three accounts on the loan 
application, it appears that Cunningham would have overstated his assets by approximately $80,000 01 
over 70 percent. - 



60. These accounts cold not have and did not pay the $200,000 to Coastal Capital. In fact, after the 

purchase of the condominium, these accounts still had approximately $127,086.35 on deposit. The 

$10,000 earnest money, however, did come from Cunninghams Union Bank Account (number 

909 1 1 18 8 8 11). It is, therefore, clear that the $200,00Opayment didnot come from any of Cunningham's 

bank accounts. 

61. Records produced by Coastal Capital do not revealthe source of the $200,000 payment, even 

though such records were requested from Coastal Capital. Not only do their file not contain any 

indication of the source of the $200,000, but they also fail to show any personal financial information 

of the Cunninghams which would normally be associated with a mortgage loan file. 

62. Equally interesting, a review of Union Bank of California records reveals that (on or about 

December 27,2001) Cunningham deposited a $50,000 check (no; 32399) from Coastal Capital,l Plaza 

Road, Greenvale, NY 11548. In other words, not only do Cunniiigham's records not reveal $200,000 

in payments made to Coastal Capital, but they reflect an additional $50,000 flowing to Cunningham 

(despite the fact that the $150,000 mortgage is still o~ts tandin~) .~ '  

63. Based upon the above and the other information contained herein, it is my opinion that the 

$200,000 in cash that was used to purchase the condominjum did not c&ne from the Cunninghams. TO 

the contrary, it  is my opinion that Michael and Kontogi-s assisted Cunningham with launderingthe 

cash payment for the condominium.2"! 

(4) Antiaues and Furniture (November 2001) 

64: According to Wade, in approximately November 2001, Cunningham asked Wade to assist him 

with the purchase of antiques. On their initial shopping trip, Wade picked up Cunningham and drove 

him to the Kensington, Maryland area (where a number of antique stores are located). During this trip: 

Cunningham picked out at a number of antiques costing thousands of dollars. However, when it came 

time to prepare the bill and pay for the antiques, Cunningham wandered to a different area of the store 

27' This payment is discussed below under the section related to the purchase 0 
Cunningham's BMW and T-Bird. 

ZS/ As will be discussed in great detail, this conclusion is supported by over one millio~ 
dollars in payments made by two different defense contractors for the benefit of Cunningham that wa 
Iaundered through a company controlled by Kontogiannis. 



65. Wade indicated that by virtue of his absence, Cunningham made it clear that he expected Wade 

to pay for the antiques. After Wade paid the bill, Cunningham returned to assist with the delivery 

arrangements. In particular, Cunningham indicated that he wished the antiques to be shipped to his new 

condominium at 1211 S. I$& Street R002, Arlington, Virginia. 

66. On the way back from this first shopping trip, Cunningham expressed his appreciation for 

wade's largess in purchasing the antiques. The Congressman then indicated that he (Cunningham) was 

going to make Wade somebody. In this regard, Cunningham suggested that Wade would now have his 

full support and MIM could submit its own requests (i.e,, separate from ADCS) for contracts through 

Cunningham's Congressional 0ffice.w 

67. Subsequent to this first trip, Wade purchased additional furnishings for Cunningham. These 

purchases included at least five armoires, two side tables, two night Stands, a buffet with turned wood 

spindles, a buffet with mirrored top, a number of oriental rugs and three carpet runners, a table lamp, a 

folding screen, two blue glass vases and a leather couch and chair.= On a single shopping trip, Wade 

Although they did not discuss specifics, Wade understood that the Congressman was 
giving him "the green light" to identify DoD requirements for work within MZM's area of expertise and 
submit a request to Cunningham's LegisIative Director, Nancy Lifset. Jn approximately January 2002, 
MZM did, in fact, submit a request for funding under the DoD's FORTRESS program. In response, the 
Defense Information Technology Contracting Organization ("DITCO) awarded MZM a $6,125,000 
contract scheduled to commence on or about January 29,2003. 

In the last several weeks, federal agents have obtained receipts from Onslow Square 
Antiques documenting the purchase of approximately $190,000 worth of antiques between November 
10, 2001 and November 16, 2003. Receipts indicate that the following items (among others) were 
apparently earmarked for the Congressman: (1) two night stands; (2) a leaded glass cabinet: (3) four 
armoires; (4) two buffets; (5)a marble top washstand; (6) a marble top server; (7) chair; and (8) a stain 
glass cabinet. It should also be noted that Sandra Ellington, the owner of Onslow Square Antiques, was 
also recently shown a number of pictures from Cunningham's residence. Ms. Ellington was able to 
positively identify as being purchased from her store: (1) two silver candelabras approximately one foot 
in height with holders for three candles located on top of a buffet; (2) a two door wooden armoire in the 
living room; (3) the French walnut wooden armoire located in the home office; and (4) a two door 
wooden armoire located in the room next to the dining area. Ms. Ellington was able to tentatively 
identify as being purchased from her store, among other items: (1) the two matching wooden bedside 
tables located in the living room; (2) the two door wooden armoire located in the room next to the 
dining area; and (3) a dark brown wooden armoire approximately 10 feet in height located in an upstairs 
bedroom. Ellington also indicated that a set of three oak and leaded glass doors (contained on receipt 
no. 6381) were (according to the Cunningham) to be installed in his Rancho Santa Fe home. 



purchased formany thousands of dollars worth of antiques from Onslow Square Antiques and rugs from 

Mark Keshishian and Sons.2' 

68. On or about June 18, 2005, after news of the present investigation was made public, Mark 

Keshishian was sent a letter from Cunningham in which he stated that he could not find "the normal 

invoice - COD" for his last purchase [which took place on May 7,20051. In the letter, Cunningham 

stated, "I think the # was 16,500 If higher or lower I will make the [unintelligible]." Cunningham also 

enclosed a $16,500 check (number 3123) drawn on one of his personal bank accounLg As the 

Keshishians had already been fully paid for the rugs, they forwarded the money to Mitch Wade. 

69. On or about July 28,2005, FBI Special Agents Erin Phan and Amy Christoph interviewed 

Mark Keshishian, an employee at Mark Keshishian and Sons, Inc. Mr. Keshishian indicated that both 

Cunningham and Wade were customers of the store and that h e  remembered two or three transactions 

involving the Congressman. In fact, Keshishian indicated that he personally delivered and laid the rugs 

at Cunningham's townhouse outside of Washington, D.C. According to Keshishian, Wade always paid 

for the rugs - even those delivered to Cunningham's residence. 

70. On or about August 5,2005, Special Agent Erin Phan was contacted by the owner of Onslow 

Square Antiques, Sandra Ellington. According to Ellington, she received a telephone call from 

Cunningham on August 1,2005. During their conversation, Cunningham suggested to Ellington that 

she had seen the Congressman give Wade cash whenever the pair purchased antiques in the store. 

EIlington replied that she had never seen Cunningham do any such thing. .Despite Ellington's denials, 

31/ Records obtained from Mark Keshishian & Sons, hc., reveal that tens of thousands of 
dollars in carpets were sold to MZM, Inc. Although it is impossible to identify all the items that went 
to Cunningham, the receipts do indicate that the following items (among. others) were apparently 
earmarked for the Congressman: (1) two 2 x 32 Cino Kormans; (2) 2 x 19 Indo.Keshan; (3) a 2 x 38 
Karaja; and (4) a 6 x 8 rug. These items alone appear to total over $20,000. It should also be noted that 
Federal Agents recently showed Mark Keshishian, the nephew of the owner of Keshishian & Sons, a 
number of pictures from Cunningham residence. Mr. Keshishian was able to positively identify as being 
purchased from his store: (1) a long carpet runner with geometric patterns in the middle surrounded by 
light background with white and blue striped border pattern that was located in a hallway; and (2)  a 
carpet runner approximately 20 to 30 feet in length with a red fiord pattern located in a hallway next to 
the living room. 

32) - In my opinion, Cunningham appears to be trying to cover his tracks by paying for mgs 
that had already been purchased by Mitch Wade on his behalf. - 



Cunningham pressed her and continued to insist that he had given Wade approximately $35,000 in cash 

while Cunningham and wade were in the store.3' 

71. During the execution of the July 1,2005 search warrant on Cunningham's Rancho Santa Fe - 
home, federal agents photographed the various rooms. A number of these pictures were recently shorn 

to Mtchell Wade. During his review of these pictures, Wade indicated that he purchased the following 

items that are now located in Cunningham's house (1) a large marble topped wooden serving cabinet 

('buffet") with a curved wooden backing (dining areas); (2)  an ornate bronze style table lamp (dining 

area); (3) a wooden china hutch (dining area); (4) a large Oriental style carpet (dining area); (5) a two 

door wooden annoire (hving room); (6) two matching wooden bedside tables (living &I); (7) a large 

oriental style carpet (living room); (8) a long carpet runner (hallway); (9) a two door wooden annoire 

(hallway); (10).a ~rench walnut wooden armoire (home office); (11) an oriental style carpet (home 

office); (12) two blue glass vases (family room); (13) antique wooden side table (family room); (14) 

leather Mastercraft chair (family room); (15) an oriental style carpet (family room); (16) a two door 
. . 

wooden m o i r e  (entrance way); (17) a wooden sideboard with turned wooden spindles (entrance way); 

(18) a red and bluish pattern oriental style carpet (entrance way); (19) three door wooden armoire 

(hallway next to living room); (20) an oriental style carpet runner (hallway next to living room); (21) 

a three panel wooden 1 rattan screen (pool / game room); (22) an oriental style carpet (pool / game room); 

(23) a wooden, flat topped m o i r e  with full length mirror @reak€ast nook); (24) a wooden armoire 

(breakfast nook); (25) a large oriental style carpet (main foyer); (26) a wooden dresser (downstairs 

bedroom); (27) a dark brown wooden armoire (upstairs bedroom); (28) a two-door, wooden armoire 

(bedroom closet); (29) an antique wooden mirror (spare bedroom); and (30) a three door wooden dresser 

(bedroom closet).= 

J3/ In my opinion, Cunningham once again appears to be trying to cover hii tracks by 
attempting to influence the recollection of the furniture store proprietor. 

34/ Federal Agents were also able to obtain an inventory sheet listing the contents of the 
antiques Cunningham shipped from Washington to his Rancho Santa Fe home. This receipt listed over 
$200,000 worth of antiques. In particular, the inventory listed (1) two Bejar Rugs valued at $40,000 a 
piece; (2) a corner lead glass armoire valued at $5,200; (3) a large lead glass armoire valued at $4,500; 
(4) a small lead glass m o i r e  valued at $2,700; (5) a china hutch circa I890 valued at $24,000; (6) two 
candelabras valued at $1,400; (7) two smoking tables valued at $2,000; (8) a French I m p  shade valued 

(continued.. .) 
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,(5) BMW and Thunderbird Purchases (February 2002) 

72. Records obtained from Bob Baker Ford, 730 Camino Del Rio North, San Diego, California, 

reveal that Randall H and Nancy D. Cunningham signed a credit application to purchase a 2002 Ford 

Thunderbird on February 16, 2002. According to Bob Baker Ford's Fleet Manager, Richard 

Mocznianski, the Cunninghams attempted to have Mitchell Wade pay for the vehicle. 

73. In particular, Mocznianski told federal agents that he received a third party check in the mail 

from Wade. Following receipt of the check, Mocznianski spoke to both Wade and Cunningham and 

informed them that Bob Baker does not accept third party checks in car transactions. As a result, he 

returned the check. 

74. On or about February20,2002, Randall H. Cunningham and Nancy D. Cunninghampurchased 

a 2002 Ford Thunderbird (vin no. 1FAHP60A92Y 11097 1) from Bob Baker Ford. The Cunninghams 

paid for the Thunderbird with a check drawn on their Union Bank of California bank account in the 

amount of $43,357.91. 

75. The following day, they also purchased a 2001 BMW 330 CI (vin no. WBABS53461JU82433) 

from the same San Diego dealership for $40,925.22. The Cunninghams put down $20,000 (drawn from 

their Union Bank account) and financed the remaining $20,925.22. 

76. h total, the Cunninghams utilized $63,357.9 1 from their Union Bank account to purchase the 

two vehicles. However, a review of this bank account reveals that on February 21,. 2002, the 

Cunninghams would only have had $39,203.77 (or $24,.154.14 less than the purchase price) in the 

account - absent a $50,000 deposit made on December 27,2001. 

a(...continued) 
at $3,500; (9) three smoking tables valued at $2,000; (10) cobalt blue lamps valued at $300 a piece; (1 1: 
a cut glass floor piece valued at $1,200; (12) a Tiffany statute valued at $2,000; (13) an Erte statute 
valued at $12,000; (14) four crystal lamps valued at $2,800; (15) acut glass lamp valued at $2,400; (16: 
an eagle ceramic valued at $500; (17) three cut @ass doors valued at $5,000; (18) glass armoire valued 
at $5,400; (19) aFrench bedroom armoire valued at $5,200; (20) three marble top French dressers valuec 
at $12,600; (21) a marble top mirrored vanity valued at $2,200; (22) an antique mirror valued at $1,200. 
(23) a living room armoire valued at $5,200; (24) a marble top / marble fold shelf valued at $4,200; (25: 
a hall tree valued at $3,700; (26) small bed room armoire valued at $2,700; (27) an armoire valued a1 
$3,200; (28) an antique secretary vaIued at $4,200; (29) two German antique bars valued at $6,400; anc 
(30) two silver candle sticks valued at $5,600. 



77. A review of this deposit items reveds that the $50,000 deposit was generated by a Coastal 

Capital check (dated December 20,2001) made payable to Duke Cunningham. As previously indicated, 

Coastal Capital records do not indicate that they owed Cunningham any funds. Moreover, Coastal 

Capital failed to turn overthe $50,000 check that was requested by Grand Jury subpoena. 

78. Basedupon all of the above, it is my opinion that the $50,000 check represents additional bribe 

proceeds that have been laundered through companies controlled by Kontogiannis and Michael. At this 

point, it is difficult to discern if this bribe payment was from Wilkes, Wade or another conspirator. 

(6) Rolls Rovce (April 2002) 

79. In approximately April 2002, Cunningham told Wade that for $10,000 in cash, he could 

purchase a Rolls Royce from England. Wade gave Cunningham the money. When the car arrived at 

the Port of Baltimore, Wade dropped off Cunningham so that the Congressman could pick up the 

vehicle. 

80. Because the Rolls Royce needed a major overhaul, Cunningham took the vehicle to Bethesda 

Rolls Royce to have it restored- Cunningham then requested, and Wade paid thousands of dollars to 

restore the car.= According to Wade, Cunningham registered the Rolls Royce in his (Cunningham's) 

name and kept it in the Congressional parking garage. 

81. Some time later, Wade and Cunningham agreed that Wade could have the Rolls Royce in 

exchange for additional payments to Cunningham. Wade eventually obtained possession of the Rolls 

(after paying the additional money), but never received title to the vehicle from Cunningham. 

(7) "Kellv C" Emenses (September 2002) 

82. According to Mitch Wade, in or around the fall of 2002, Cunningham said that he was going 

to sell his 65-foot houseboat, the "Kelly C," to his friend, Tommy Kontogiannis. Wade indicated that 

Federal agents have obtained records from Euromotorcars, 4919 Bethesda Avenue, 
Bethesea, Maryland These records reveal that Wade brought in the Rolls Royce on five occasions 
between April 30,2002 andDecember 3 1,2004. In total, Wade paid $24,108.84 for repairs on the Rolls 
Royce. The majority of these repairs occurred while Cunningham was using the vehicle. 



Cunningham referred to Kontogiannis as ''Tommy K," and implied that Kontogiannis had ties to 

organized crime.= 

83. Soon thereafter, Cunningham called Wade and asked to meet him at the Marina. During their 

meeting, Cunningham told Wade that he wanted $1 6,000 from Wade to pay for a new engine and other 

repairs to the Kelly C.  Wade then gave Cunningham's mechanic, Willard Whitehouse, an MZM check 

(in the amount of $16,867.13) made payable to Marine Systems, I ~ C . ~  

84. Wade also indicated that Cunningham requested additional money to pay a crew to deliver the 

boat to New York (where Kontogiannis lived). In particular, on September 25,2002, Wade paid $600 

to Omar Totrolleo. He also paid Whitehouse $2,000 for his role in transporting the Kelly C to New 

York. 

85. Among the documents produced by Cunningham pursuant to a grand jury subpoena is a copy 

of a $5,409.85 check drawn on the "The Axxion Group, LLC" account and payable to R&W Brokerage 

Inc. The check is dated August 16,2004 and the memo line reflects that it was for "Boat Insurance." 

This record (and others I have reviewed) suggest that The Axxion Group was involved in paying for, 

among other things, insurance on Cunningham's vessel. 

86. According to documents obtained from North Fork Bank, it appears that the Axxion Group is 

owned and/or controlled by Tommy Kontogiannis. In addition, records from the Congressional Federal 

Credit Union indicate that The Axxion Group issued a $10,000 check (number 1005) to Randy 

Cunningham on February 27,2002. Similarly, the Government has obtained checks from Olympicorp, 

Eastern Development & Construction Corp.; and Primary Realty, Inc., that have been deposited into 

Cunningham's bank accounts. It is believed that all of these companies may be owned or controlled by 

From December 2002 through approximately March 2005, Dave Heil served as 
Cunningham's Chief of Staff. According to Heil, he learned from one of his predecessors that 
Cunningham had first tried to sell the Kelly C to Brent Wilkes. However, the sale to Wilkes was never 
completed as Cunningham was told by an earlier Chief of Staff that it would have been inappropriate. 

371 - Federal agents have obtained a copy of MllM check #2816 (dated September 19,2002), 
in the amount of $16,867.13. The check is made payable to Marine Systems, S & S ,  Inc. A review of 
the endorsement indicates that it was deposited into abank account in the name of Marine Systems Sales 
& Service, Inc., a company owned by Whitehouse. 
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Kontogiannis. In this regard, public and bank records establish Kontogiannis relationship with 

I( Olympicorp. 

11 87. 
As discussed later herein, on or about September 12, 2005, Parkview Financial provided a 

I folder containing a number of documents that they claim are related to the "purchase of the Kelly C." 

11 These documents include a $20,000 check from Olympicorp International LLC, 1 Cross Island Plaza, 

11 Rosedale, NY (dated September 18,2002), a $4Q,OOO check from Parkview Financial, 1 ~ r o k  Island 

11 Plaza, Suite LLZ, Rosedale, NY (dated November 22,2002); the $10,000 check fromThe Axxion Group 

11 (dated February 27,2002) referred to immediately above, and $200,000 that was wired fmm Coastal 

11 Capital on behalf of Randy and Nancy Cunningham (on or about December 3,2001) that represented :I the funds utilizedby the Cunninghams to purchase their Arlington Condominium. 

88. A review of Coast Guard records reflects that on or about May 2005, the registration of the 

Kelly C still had not been changed from Cunninghain's home address, 7094 Via Del Charm, P.O. Box 

11 712, Rancho Santa Fe, CA 92067.w 

u (8) Purchase and Use of the '!Duke-Stir" (August 2002) 

# 89. On or about June 16,2005, newspapers (including the North County Times in Cunningham's 

11 home district) reported thit Cunningham, while in Washington D.C., lived aboard a boat named the 

11 "Duke-Stir," whose title was held by Wade and his wife. 

11 90. 
Seven days later, in his June 23, 2005 public statement referenced above, Cunningham 

' 1 attempted to explain this additional disclosure. Cunningham claimed to be a temporary paying tenant 

'I on Wade's boat, asserting "that [he] only began living on Mr. Wade's boat in roughly April 2004," and 

I huther stating as fo~lows: 

Mr. Wade and I agreed that, in return for me staying on the boat, I would pay the monthly dock fees 
and maintenance costs associated with keeping Mr. Wade's boat at the marina. There was nothing 
improper about my arrangement with Mr. Wade because I paid these monthly fees and costs in lieu 
of rent. Based on the records that I have been able to locate to date, I have paid well over $8,000 for 
the dock fees and well over $5,000 for service and maintenance. 

According to the Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington ("CREW") 
website and other published reports, Kontogiannis claims that, in 2002, he paid Cunningham $600,000 
for the Kelly C. Thereafter, Kontogiannis allegedly spent an additional $100,000 on improvements. 
Although he never received title to the boat, Kontogiannis stated that he covered more than $400,0013 
of the purchase price by paying off the second mortgage that he held (through his company Parkview 
Fmancial) on Cunningham's Rancho Santa Fe home (see discussion below). 



Cunningharn also added that his attorneys would make the payment records available when collected 

To my knowledge, such records have yet to be released to the public or law enforcement. Indeed, it 

appears that Wade purchased the Duke-Stir for Cunningharn. 

91. According to Scott F. Schramm, he was the previous owner of the 42-foot yacht (Hull ID 

lumber CDRCA04lA787, Official No. 929360) that is now named the ~ u k e - ~ t i r . ~  Schramm stated that 

n the summer of 2002, Will Whitehouse approached him about selling his boat (then named the "Buoy 

Toy"). 'Whitehouse told Schramrn that Cunningham was interested in buying his boat. Whitehouse and 

~chramrn negotiated a price and set up a meeting to close the sa1e.w 

92. On the day of the meeting, Cunningham and Wade showed up to discuss the transaction with 

~chramm. Cunningham introduced Wade as his "business partner," and spoke directly to Schramm about 

he transaction. Schramrn was given a $140,000 cashier's check to pay for the boat.si After the sale, 

~chramm bagged. up his belongings' and removed them from the boat. Following their removal, 

~umingham and his wife had a picnic with Wade and his wife on the newly purchased boat. 

93. Based upon the above events, Schramm has indicated that he believed Cunningham was one 

~ f ,  if not the, principal buyer and owner of the Duke-Stir. He was, therefore, extremely puzzled when 

le read recent press accounts of Cunningham's statements claiming that he merely was renting the boat 

rom Wade. Schramm stated that he did not recall discussing at the time of the sale who would take title 

o the boat. He believed that those details were handled by the boat broker, Jennifer warren-~ei le r .~  

39/ - According to Whitehouse, the name Duke-Stir was a play on Cunningham's nick-names 
(i.e., the Duke and the Dukester) and the fact that the Congressman likes mixed drinks. 

Will whitehouse confinned that he served, at Cunningham's request, a s  an intermediary 
between Schramm and Cunningharn. He also indicated that it was his impression that Cunningham was 
buying the boat for his own use. 

41/ Federal Agents have obtained a copy of a $140,000 cashier's check issued by Sun Trust 
Bank dated August 30,2002. The face of the check indicates that it was purchased by Mitchell Wade 
and made payable to Scott Schramrn. Additionally, a review of United States Coast Guard records (as 
well as computerized property ownership databases). indicate that title to the Duke-Stir passed to 
Mitchell and Christiane Wade from Scott F. Schramm and Lee E. Marcum on August 30,2002. These 
records also corroborate a purchase price of $140,000. 

a Schramrn did, however, sign a bill of sale that indicated the boat was to be titled in 
(continu ed...) 
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94. According to Schramm, Cunningham moved the Duke-Stir into his (Cunningham's) slip at the 

! Capital Yacht Club, 100 Water Street, SW, washington, D.C., and started residing on it by late 2002 - 
I shortly after its purchase from Schramm. In fact, Schramm indicated that when he returned from a trip Y 

in early November 2002, he noticed that the vessel was already in Cunningham'~ slip at the Capital 

I Yacht Club. Thus, Cunningham's statement of June 23,2005 (stating that he began living on the boat 

' in April 2004) is, at a minimum, misleading. 

95. According to Wade, and contrary to Cunningham's public comments, the Congressman 

requested that Wade recompense him for the fees for docking the Duke-Stir at the Capital Yacht Club 
' 

in late 2002. An examination of financial records confirms that Mitchell Wade issued a $7,500 check 

(no. 4781) to Duke Cunningham (dated on or about November 1,2002) from his Navy ~ e d k a l  Credit 

Union account. The memo line of the check indicates that it was for "Yacht Club Fees." 

I 9 6 .  Kelvin Lee, the Dock Master at the Capital Yacht Club, also conf&s that the vessel was in 

Cunningham's slip at the Yacht Club by December 2002. Indeed, Capital Yacht Club records reveal that 
' 

Cunningham submitted a docking agreement for the vessel in October 2002. Moreover, on January 21, 

2003, the official nilme of the vessel was changed to the ~ u k e - ~ t i r . ~  

97. Lee also stated that in May or June 2005, Cunningham told him that, "I'm thinking of selling 

lthc ~uke-stir." Once again, this action (and all his other observations) led Lee to believe that the vessel 

was owned by Cunningham. 
t 

98. According to Wade, he purchased the Duke-Stir at the direction and request of Cunningham. 
I 

Although Wade used the boat without Cunningham on a handful of occasions, he stated that the boat had 

been under Cunningham's control from September 2002 through June 2005. Wade also indicated that 

he gave Cunningham thousands of dollars in cash on a number of occasions in order to assist in the 

llupkeep and maintenance qf the boat, as well as to reimburse Cunningham fa his payment of dock fees. 

I 43/ A review of Coast Guard records reveals that the registration address of the Duke-Stir 
is 2412 Tracy Place, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20008, MitcheIl Wade's home address. 
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99. Given the name of the "Duke-Stir"- coupled with Cunningham's exclusive occupancy, and 

 early exclusive use, of it - it appears that, for all intents and purposes, Wade bought the Duke-Stir for 

hnningham, but placed it in his own name so the bribe wouldnot be as obvious. This conclusion is also 

upported by the fact (as related by Will Whitehouse) that Cunningham was exploring selling the boat 

ad  purchasing a new vessel. 

(9) The Sea Cove (January 2003) 

100. According to Wade, around January 2003, Cunningharn told him that he wanted to purchase 

n additional, smaller boat for $30,000. Accordingly, Wade wrote a check on the MZh4 corporate 

ccount for $30,000.* 

101. In an interview on June 30, 2005, Will Whitehouse told federal agents that he had 

ecornmended a 35-foot powerboat to Cunningham as a good buy. According to Whitehouse, the boat 

that he recalled being named the "Sea Cove") was being sold in an estate sale for $18,000 and was in 

,ood condition. Whitehouse stated that Cunningharn purchased the boat at this p ~ i c e . ~  

102. Wade has stated that Cunningham did not give him back any part of the $30,000. It, therefore, 

ppears that Cunningham pocketed the additional $12,000. Similarly, Wade has stated that he never 

eceived any funds when Cunningham later sold the Sea Cove. According to Will Whitehouse, 

hnningham sold the boat to a Washington, D.C., police officer. 

(10) Buck Knives (April 2003) 

103. ' According to Wade, in or about April 2003, Cunningham told him about a deal in which they 

ould purchase a large number of Buck Knives that bore the signature of a member of the Buck family. 

44/  - Federal Agents have obtained acopy of Ma/l. check # 248 in the amount of $3O,OOO that 
is payable to Randall Cunningharn. The check is datedJanuary 13,2003 and appears to indicate in the 
notation section that it was for publicity. It is my belief that Wade put this notation on the MZM check 
in order to disguise that it was really for an illegal bribe to Cunningharn. 

a5/ Coast Guard title records indicate that Cunningham brought a 33 foot boat called "The 
Sea Cove" in October 2000 for $20,000. It was subsequently sold by Cunningham for an undisclosed 
sum. 



iunningham asked Wade to purchase approximately $24,000 worth of the Buck Knives.@ When he  

xeived the knives, Wade kept some and gave the remainder to Cunningham. 

104. Approximately two months ago, federal agents reviewed the corporate website for Top Gun 

nterprises, Inc., an entity that Cunningham owns and controIs. This website advertises a variety of 

romotional items related to Cunningham's career as a naval aviator. Among the items for sale were 

.andy "Duke" Cunningham Fighter Ace Buck Knives bearing what appeared to be the Congressional 

eal. The knives sold for $595 a piece. 

(11) Suburban (April 2003) 

105. In 2003, Cunningham told Wade that he liked his black Chevrolet Suburban and was going to 

uy it for $10,000. Although Wade realized that the Suburban was worth more than $10,000, he sold it 

) Cunningham without asking any questions. In fact, my review of the Motor Vehicle Title Registration 

qplication appears to indicate that the initial selling price of $10,000 was fraudulently altered (before 

ling) to indicate that Cunningham had paid $18,000 for the vehicle. 

106. According to Dave Heil, he discovered that Cunningham purchased Wade's Suburban at a price 

lat he believed was well below market value. When he brought this up to Cunningham, the 

'ongressman banged the table and told Heil to stay out of his personal business. Subsequently, Heil and 

'unningham discussed how the car was worth somewhere between $18,000 and $20,000. Heil and 

nother Cunningham staffer than altered the registration to read $18,000 and Heil told Cunningham that 

e hoped he would make up the difference. 

(12) Wine (May 2003) 

107. According to Wade, he and Cunningham frequently dined at The Capital Grille Restaurant, 60 1 

ennsylvania Avenue, Washington, D.C. 20004. In approximately May 2003, Cunningham told Wade 

lat he had purchased some Silver Oak wine that he intended to store at The Capital Grille. Cunningham 

46/ Federal Agents have obtained a copy of MZM check#3540 in the  amount of $24,075 that 
was made out to Buck Knives. The check was dated April 14,2003. 
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dded that the wine was being shipped from California, that he wanted Wade to pay for it. Wade 

ssented and gaire cunningham an $8,000 checkg' 

(13) Laser Shot shoot in^ Simulator (July 2003) 

108. Wade also told federal investigators that in July of .2OO3 he purchased three Lase'r Shot 

hooting Simulators. This device is used by many federal and state agencies to train officers on 

wksmanship, shot placement and critical decision making skills. Among other things; the device comes 

rith recorded video scenarios that assists the shooter in evaluating the situation and making appropriate 

hooting decisions. 

109.. According to Wade, the three simulators were purchased on or about July 28,2003 and cost 

pproximately $13,800. Wade kept one of the simulators and gave the other two to Cunningham. Wade 

elieves that one of the units was installed in Cunningham's Congressional Office. 

110. - My review of photos from the Cunningham residence revealed what appears to be aLaser Shot 

hooting simulator. I was able to observe what appeared to be a projector, laser reading device, screen, 

o h a r e ,  and laser guns. This observation was confirmed by Special Agent Michael Belluso who 

bserved a laser device while he was in the premises. 

(14) Cunnimham's Del Mar Home (Nov. 2003) 

A. Wade's purchase of the home for $1,615.000 

111. Federal agents interviewed real estate agent Elizabeth Todd on June 18 and 21,2005.~ This 

xtion reflects information that Todd, Wade, and other witnesses provided, as well as information 

5flected in documentary evidence concerning this transaction. 

112. According to Wade, by 2003, Cunningham (and Nancy Lifset, Cunningham's Legislative 

Iirector) had told Wade that he needed a corporate presence in Cunningham's home district of San Diego 

47/ Federal Agents have obtained a copy of MZM check #3652 in the amount of $8,000 that 
was made out to Duke Cunningham. The check appears to be dated May 1,2003 and contains a notation 
suggesting that it was a reimbursement for the wine purchase. Once again, I believe the notation was 
placed on the check by Wade in order to disguise that it was really for an illegal bribe to Cunningham, 
who ultimately received the wine. 

Todd's interview was conducted pursuant to a proffer agreement similar to the one used 
with Wade. .. -.. 



presumably to justify all of the funding that Cunningham was directing to MZM). Initially, Cunningham 

~ l d  Wade that he should purchase a condominium in San Diego. 

1 13. In 2003, Todd -a real estate agent for The Willis Allen Company in Del Mar, ~alifornia - met 

hnningham and Trey Hardin (a former Chief of Staff for Cunningham) through her husband, Whitney 

'odd. 

114. In late May or early June 2003, Todd attended a golf fund-raising event that she believes was 

osted by Cunningham. At the event, Hardin informed Todd that Cunningham wanted her to show him 

Cunningham) some property in the San Diego area. 

1 15. After the fund raiser, Cunningham called Todd and said that he and his partner were interested 

1 buying a condominium in San Diego. Cunningham expressed interest in a new project going up in a 

leach area. Todd later determined this to be the Seahaus project in La Jolla, and that the units in this 

lroject were priced from under $400,000 to over $1 million. Cunningham told Todd that he and his 

lamer would be interested in purchasing a unit in the million-dollar range with an ocean view. 

3unningham told Todd that both he and his partner would use the unit. 

116. Todd soon learned that Seahaus was two to three years away from completion. However, 

lunningham said that he wanted something sooner. As a result, Todd began looking at other listings in 

lrder to find a suitable property. 

117. Tn or about late June and July 2003, Todd showed Cunningham a variety of condominiums 

xated near downtown San Diego priced at around $1 to $1.2 million. 

118. On or about August 4,2003, Cunningham revealed to Todd that his "partner" was Mitchell 

Vade. Cunningham provided Todd with Wade's email address and requested that she email Wade 

lroperty listings for a condominium in La Jolla and a couple of condominiums downtown. The email 

ccount provided for Wade was Mwade@MZMinc.com. Todd emailed that account and received 

tsponses, including a response that corrected typographical errors in Mitchell Wade's home address. 

119. Towards the end of July or the beginning of August, Cunningham mentioned to Todd that 

ecause he had a million dollars to spend, perhaps he would simply sell his home at 13832 Mercado 

)rive in Del Mar for $1.5 million and use the million dollars netted from that sale to purchase a bigger 



louse for himself (Cunningham). Cunningham said that Wade could simply have an oflice in 

~unningham's bigger home. Upon learning that Cunningham was planning on selling his Mercado 

esidence, Todd asked about handling the listing. Cunningham replied that he already had a buyer for it. 

?hereafter, Todd and Cunningham began looking at a number of homes that Cunningham picked out of 

i magazine featuring 'Bream ~ o m e s "  in the San Diego area. 

120. On or about August 19,2003, pursuant to Cunningham's instructions, Todd contacted realtor 

Ioug Harwood regarding a listing he had at 7094 Via Del Charro, Rancho Santa Fe, California. The 

nitial listing price for the property was $3.29 million. 

12 1. About when Cunningham returned to Washington from Congress' August 2003 recess, he told 

Vade that he and Nancy had found the house of their dreams, and that Wade could help him get it. 

hn ingham proceeded to show Wade a photograph of the Via Del Charro house in Dream Homes 

dagazine. 

122. Thereafter, Cunningham told Wade that he should purchase Cunningham's current home in 

)el Mar and use that as- his corporate presence. Although Wade had never even seen Cunningham's 

Lome, he agreed. According to Wade, Cunningham set the price at $1.5 million, In doing so, he sent an 

.mail to Wade telling him that a house down the street w& selling for that amount. In addition, 

hnningham also had Elizabeth Todd send Wade an email showing various Del Mar l i ~ t i n g s . ~  For his 

tart, Wade did no research and simply accepted the purchase price set by Cunningham. 

123. On or about October 28,2003, Cunningham instructed Todd to submit an offer on the 7094 

7ia Del Charro house. Eventually, the Cunninghams and the sellers agreed on a purchase price of 

;2,550,000. 

124. Sometime in early November 2003, Cunningham requested that Todd draft a purchase 

greement for the sale of his Del Mar home to Wade. Cunningham said that the purchase price should 

le $1.5 million and that the buyer should be Wade's company, 1523 New Hampshire Ave., LU3. 

9 I have reviewed an email from Elizabeth Todd to Mitch Wade (dated November 10, 
2003) attaching some "comparables in Duke's neighborhood for the last six months." 
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125. In early November 2003, Cunningham provided Wade with a purchase agreement for the Del 

Mar home for $1.5 million, which both Cunningham and his wife had signed. Shortly thereafter, 

lowever, Cunningham told Wade that he needed an additional $175,000 to purchase the Rancho Santa 

?e home: Rrither than give Cunningham a check for $175,000, Wade told Cunningham that he would add 

m additional $175,000 to the purchase price of the Del Mar home. Cunningham then had Todd draft 

mother purchase agreement, this one with a price of $1675 million. 
' 

126. On November 20,2003 (according to records obtained from the San Diego County  recorder:^ 
Iffice), Cunningham closed the sale of his Del Mar home to 1523 New Hampshire Ave, L L C . ~  The 

<ecorder7s office records reveal that the purchase price for' 13832 Mercado Drive was $1,675,000. 

Zscrow records reveal that the Cunninghams cleared over $1.4 million dollars on the sale of their house 

o Wade. Less than two weeks later, they closed their purchase of the Rancho Santa Fe home. 

127. According to Todd, after closing Cunningham's purchase of the Rancho Santa Fe home, she 

md her husband had dinner with Trey Hardin and his wife. Hardin congratulated Todd for "scoring7' by 

:etting the "double listing." Todd then told Hardin that she only got one listing because Cunningham 

,old his Del Mar house on his own. After hearing this comment, Hardin tried to guess who had purchased 

he home. After one wrong guess, he then guessed Mitchell Wade. When Todd confumed that Wade 

vas, in fact, the purchaser, Hardin looked sick to his stomach. Thereafter, Todd's husband, Whitney 

rod4 quickly changed the subject. 

B. Wade's sale of the home for $975,000 

128. Although Wade's ownership of Cunningham's Del Mar home "checked the box" as far as 

laving a San Diego presence, Wade told federal agents that he never intended to use it as an office. 

ndeed, Wade never even looked at the property and requested that Todd re-list it almost immediately 

lfter its purchase. 

A review of public records confirms that Mitchell J. Wade is the owner of 1523 New 
Hampshire Ave., LLC. It should also be noted that at the time of the transfer, these records reveal that 
the Del Mar property was owned by "The Cunningham Family Trust," and that Randall H- Cunningham 
and Nancy D. Cunningharn signed, as trustees of the Cunningham Family Trust, the grant deed 
transferring ownership to 1523 New Hampshire Ave., LLC. 



129. In direct contradiction to recent public statements by Cunningham, both Todd and Wade have 

.tated that it was Cunningham, not Todd, whd had set the purchase price for the Del Mar home. In fact, 

Todd stated that she did not step foot in Cunningham's Del Mar home until after it was sold to Wade, and 

vhen she did, she told Wade that it did not appear to be worth $1.675 million. 

130. According to Todd, she recognized that the Del Mar home was not worth f1.675.mi~on. 

3owever, because a lower offering price might raise concerns with prospective buyers, they decided to 

ist the home at $1.68 million. 

131. Todd's concerns about the home's true market value proved well-founded. Beginning in and 

round January 2004, Todd aggressively marketed the Del Mar house. Among other things, she hosted 

lumerous open houses, listed the property in San Diego 'Dream Homes" magazine, and offered a raffle 

or other real estate agents who looked at the property. Despite her efforts, she was unable to get even 

1 single written offer due to the condition of the house and the asking price. According to Todd, other 

cal estate agents were laughing when they looked at the property because of the high &king price. 

132. Neighbors interviewed by the federal agents indicated that they did not think the house was as 

ttractive as others in the neighborhood, and viewed the sales price of the house as very surprising. 

133. Because of her inability to get any offers on the property, Todd (with her own funds) made 

everal improvements to the property (e.g., removed the security bars from the doors and windows). She 

nd Wade also agreed to lower the asking price to a range of $1.5 to 1.68 million. After not getting any 

rritten offers in this range, she convinced Wade to lower the asking price to $1.395 million. 

134. h and around the fall of 2004, Todd finally received an offer on the Del Mar house for 

;750,000. At this point, Wade refused to even counter this low offer. As a result, the offer expired. 

%rough negotiations with the buyer's realtor, Todd was able to get a new offer for $975,000. Although 

?odd attempted to get Wade to counter this offer, he indicated that she should accept the offer because 

le just wanted to get rid of the house. San Diego County Recorder's Office records confirm that Wade 

old the property for $975,000 on October 13,2004. 
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135. In approximately early November 2004, Todd received a telephone call from Trey Hardin. 

lardin told Todd that he had heard Cunningham's old Del Mar house had been sold and inquired as to 

he selling price. Todd replied that the information was confidential. 

136. Shortly thereafter, Todd received a call from Cunningham Chief of Staff, David Heil. In this 

.onversation, Heil also inquired about the selling price of the Mercado home. Once again, she told Heil 

hat the information was confidential. Heil, however, replied that the information was available on-line. 

Lecognizing that this was correct, she told Heil that the house had sold for $975,000. 

137. In mid-November 2004, Todd received a phone call from Cunningham. Cunningham indicated 

hat he was troubled by the fact that the home had sold for only $975,000. He told Todd that it could be / 
lad for him because he had sold the house for $1.675 million in 2003: He then told Todd that he wanted 

ler to prepare a justification for the lower selling price. 

138. Todd was "uncomfortable" with Cunningham's request, but decided to help Cunningham 

tecause she liked him. She therefore drafted a letter to Cunningham (dated November 16,2004)- This 

etter attempted to justify the lower price by, among other things, suggesting that, in 2004, trends had - 
hanged and the market had become more of a buyer's market. After completing the letter, Todd faxed 

t to Cunningham's Washington office. 

139. Todd has told investigators that her letter to Cunningham was written in a manner designed to 

kelp out Cunningham, and that it does not fairly and accurately reflect the San Diego real estate market 

luring the relevant periods. Federal agents have independently confirmed this fact through conversations 

with Todd and other knowledgeable market participants. Although 2004 was somewhat less of a stellar 

lear for home appreciation than 2003, the overall San Diego housing market continued to appreciate at 

I double-digit rate, fairly priced homes continued to receive multiple offers, and in no sense could the 

narket in San Diego generally, or Del Mar in particular, be fairly called a "buyer's market." 

140. On or about June 21,2005, Todd Lackner, a professional appraiser in the San Diego real estate 

narket, completed an historical appraisal on the property at 13832 Mercado Drive. According tc 

-ackner, his appraisal determined that the true value of 13832 Mercado (as of November 20,2003) w a  

pproximately $900,000. He based this figure on a number of comparable sales taking place at that timt 



1 the vicinity of Cunningham's Del Mar home. In other words, Lackner's independent appraisal suggests 

iat Wade paid Cunningham approximately $775,000 more than the Del Mar home was worth.z 

(15) Capital Gains Tax (December 2003) 

141. According to Wade, a few weeks after he purchased Cunningham's Del Mar home, 

hnningharn asked him for more money. Cunningham called Wade, and told him, in effect, that because 

lrade had paid so much for Cunningham's Del Mar home, Cunningham would have to pay capital gains 

IX on the transaction.= Cunningham instructed Wade to write him a check for $115,100 and mail it to 

lunningham7s San Diego office immediately. Cunningham and Wade agreed that Wade would make 

le check payable to Cunningham's company, Top Gun Enterprises, Inc. Cunningham also provided 

Vade with the address to his district office. 

142. Federal Agents have obtained a copy of an MZM check for $115,100 (dated December 30, 

003) payable to Top Gun Enterprises, Inc. The check appears to indicate in the notation section that it 

!as for Public Relations and Communication expenses. Once again, I believe this notation was placed 

n the check by Wade in order to disguise that it was really for an illegal bribe to Cunningham. - 

143. In his interview, Wade acknowledged that the check was made payable to Top Gun Enterprises 

D that it would look like a normal business transaction. He also admitted that the notation on the check 

ras a further attempt to disguise the payment to cunningham as an appropriate h4ZM business expense. 

144. A review of @e back of the check indicates that it was endorsed by Randall H. Cunningham. 

'foreover, Union Bank of California records reveal that on December 3 1,2003 there a $1 15,100 

eposit made into a bank account held by Cunningham. 

r 

5 11 - According to Wade, in June 2005, Cunningham showed him a letter professing surprise 
and concern over the low price generated by the sale of the Del Mar property. This letter (which was 
produced by Cunningham pursuant to Subpoena) asserts that Cunningham will pay the [$700,0001 
difference in sales prices. Moreover, it also states that Cunningham was prepared to immediately give 
Wade a $50,000 payment with the balance to be paid monthly with interest. Wade indicated that he 
never received any funds from Cunningham andbelieves this letter was designed to make the transaction 
appear more legitimate. This conclusion is supported by a review of the electronic version of the letter 
which reveals that it was prepared on November 16, 2004 - approximately 8 months prior to 
Cunningham even showing it to Wade. 

5% - It is my belief that only $500,000 in capital gains (per married couple) are excluded for 
federal tax purposes. 



(16) Movin~ Exvenses (March 2004) 

145. In early 2004, Cunningharn sold his Arlington, Virginia condominium that Wade had helped 

furnish. According to Wade, the condominium was full of furniture, including the many antiques and 

rugs that he had purchased for Cunningham. At that time, Cunningham toId Wade that he wanted Wade 

to pay to have Cunningham's furnishings packed and shipped to San Diego. 

146. Cunningham arranged to have Wade pay an invoice (dated March 16,2004) from the Victory 

Van Corporation. The invoice indicates that the packing company built and packed four crates, dong 

with 20 china barrels, 3 book cartons, 22 medium containers, 11 Utility/Golf containers, 14 medium 

mirror containers, 11 wardrobe containers, 3 mattresses, and 1 gun carton. 

147. The value listed for the 30 plus antiques on Victory Vans paperwork was approximately 

$214,900. The total bill for the packing and shipping was $1 1,393 -56. Wade paid the entire packing and 

shipping amount using MZM's American Express account. 

(17) $525,000 Payment for Cunnineham (April 2004) 

148. In approximately April 2004, Wade had dinner with Cunningham at the Capital Grille 

Restaurant. Consistent with long-standing practice, Wade paid for the dinner. After leaving the 

restaurant, Cunningham called Wikes on Cunningham's cell phone. According to Wade, Cunningham 

told Wilkes that he (Cunningham) wanted $500,000 passed through Kontogiannis and placed in an 

account in the name of Cunningham's son, Randall Cunningharn, Jr. From this and later conversations, 

Wade learned that Wilkes did not want to pay the $500,000 to Kontogiannis until ADCS had received 

payment on a $6 million subcontract it had with MZM. 

149. After this conversation, Cunningham told Wade that he wanted ADCS immediately paid. In 

response, Wade told Cunningham that ADCS had yet to invoice MZM for the $6 r n i l l i ~ n . ~  

150. On or about April 20,2004, Wade was present during another telephone conversation thal 

Cunningham had regarding the $500,000 he wanted from ADCS. On this occasion, Wade believes thai 

53' 1t should also be noted that ~Dcs ' s  $6 Ipillion invoice to m, which MZNi in tun 
billed to the Government, was for off-the-shelf, commercially available products, consisting primaril) 
of Dell computers. Based upon the documentation related to this transaction, it appears that the actual 
value of these products was less than $1 Iliillion. 

. . ..~ * .  . 



hnningham spoke with Joel Combs. In this conversation, Cunningham pressed his inquiry as to when 

DCS was going "to move" the $500,000. Once again, it appeared that ADCS was unwilling to make 

le $500,000 payment until the company had received payment from MZM on the subcontract. 

lunningham told Combs that ADCS needed to submit an invoice to MZM inorder to receive payment, 

luring this period, Cunningham also stressed to Wade the importance of promptly paying ADCS as soon 

s MZM received its invoice. 

15 1. (Federal Agents Lamont Siller and Sam Medigovich (on August 16,2005 )interviewed ADCS's 

orporate controller, Arnold Borromeo. ~ u r i n g  this interview, Borromeo-stated that he was unaware of 

ny direct payments from ADCS to Congressman Cunningham. However, Borromeo volunteered that 

e was aware of a $500,000 payment to Parkview Financial. Borromeo stated that he was 

uncomfortable" with the payment as it seemed."funny." The controller added that he was unaware of 

le purpose for the papnent. 

152. During the execution of a search warrant on ADCS's corporate headquarters (on August 16, 

005), federal- agents found a number of documents related to a $525,000 payment made to Parkview 

inancial; Inc. Among these documents wasa fax from Parkview Financial to Brent W'llkes. This fax 

idicated that it was regarding a $525,000 wire and'contained the comment that, "[tlhis is the money 

eeded for the investment you are looking to make." The fax then noted the funds should be wired to 

arkview Financial's account at the North ForkBank, 252-25 Union Tpk, Bellerose, NY 11426. Wilkes 

las also directed to contact Annette at (718) 712-1000 if he had any questions.4/ 

153. Federal agents also discovered at ADCS, a fax from Brent Wilkes to Merrill Lynch dated 

fay 12,2004. The fax indicated that it was regarding a $525,000 "[wlire transfer to Parkview Financial, 

ic." The fax directed Merrill Lynch to withdraw the money out of WBR Equities, LZX: Merrill Lynch 

:count (no- 72B-07747). The top of the fax bears a hand written notation suggesting that the funds were 

54/ It is my belief that Annette is Tommy Kontogiannis's daughter, Annette Apergis. A 
:heck of public records reveals that (718) 712-1000 is listed as the address for the Brookville Plaza 
Management Real Estate Brokerage & Services, 13333 Brookviile Blvd., Rosedale, New York aka 1 
Cross Island Plaza. According to John Michael, 1 Cross Island Plaza is the address of Parkview 
Financial. 



Also discovered at ADCS was a copy of a ADCS Bank Reconciliation Detail Report. 
This report appears to relate to the WBR Equities Memll Lynch Checking Account. The report details 
that on May 12, 2004, WBR Equities allegedly received a "loan from ADCS" in the amount of 
$525,000. 

I 

. 

I 

to be classified as a loan to WBR Equities from ADCS and as an investment between WBR Equities and 

Parkview Financi aLX' 

154. A review of WBR Equities's Memll Lynch Account (number 72B-07747) statement reveals 

that (on May 12,2004) the account received a $525,000 wire transfer from ADCS, Inc. The statement 

also reveals that Memll Lynch executed Wilkes instructions to wire out the $525,000 that same day [to 

Parkview Financial]. 

155. It is my opinion that Cunningham is using Kontogiannis to launder bribe proceeds that he is 

receiving from Wilkes. The use of Kontogiannis to launder bribe proceeds is also suggested by another 

conversation related to federal agents by Wade. 

156. According to Wade, afterMZMpaid ADCS on this subcontract, Cunningham told Wade about 

a conversation that he had with Kontogiannis. In this conversation, Kontogiannis allegedly told 

Cunningham that Wilkes was unhappy with the way they had handled the $500,000 payment for 

Cunningham. Wilkes allegedly told Kontogiannis that he wanted the $500,000 to be characterized as a 

loan in order to protect ADCS. According to Wade, Cunningham was unreceptive to Wilkes's proposal. 

157. On or about July 1,2005, federal agents executed a search warrant on Cunningham's Rancho 

Santa ~e home. During the search, agents seized a number of documents that referenced Tommy K. 

Included in the seized documents were a series of notes that appear to be referring to a potential request 

to have Kontogiannis pay off a mortgage on Cunningham's Rancho Santa Fe home. 

158. Iri addition, agents seized documents with other notations that appear to be calculating the 

money that may be necessary to purchase Cunningham's Rancho Santa Fe home. These calculations 

include references to, among other things, the house, condominium, and boat. Interestingly, several of 

these calculations reference "Brent milkesl" and Witch made]." For example, one of the notations 

arrives at 2.5 by adding 1.5 (House), .5 (Brent), and -5 (Loan). Another arrives at 2.8 by adding 2.3 

(Mitch) and .5 (Brent). 



159. After examining the entire series of notes, I believe that these calculations are notations by 

hnningham in an effort to determine how he was going to come up with the necessary funds to pay for 

he-Raricho Santa Fe home. Moreover, I believe that the notation ".5 Brent" may refer to the fact that 

hnningham was expecting to get $500,000 of the purchase price from Wilkes. Similarly, I believe the 

iotation "2.3 Mitch" may refer to the fkt that Cunningham was expecting to receive $2.3 million of the 

wrchase price from Wade. 

160. Another notepad seized'from Cunningham's Rancho Santa Fe homecontains additional 

:alculations where the Congressman appears to be figuring out how much available cash he had on hand. 

hese calculations, appear as follows: 

r is my belief that the first row references the approximately $400,000 that the Congressm would 

400,000 

200,000 

100,000 

11,000 

10,000 

721,000 
7 

sceive from the sale of one of his properties, e.g., his Arlington, Virginia condominium. More 

SALE 

LOAN 

BRENT 

CAL 

BANK 

nportantly, I believe that the 100,000 entry references $100,000 in funds he was planning to receive from 

lrent Wilkes. 

161. On July 28,2005, Cunningham's legal counsel produced pursuant to Grand Jury Subpoena, 

nter alia, a single piece of paper containing the following: 

I, Ranadall [sic] H. Cunningham, hereby enter into an agreement with Mr. Brent WiIkes to invest 
in property at 7094 Del Charm, Rancho Santa Fe, California, 92067. Mr. Wilkes will put down 
900,000 dollars for one third interest in the property and at such time not to exceed 10 years will 
share equally in profits from sale of property. Randall Cunningham will make payments on the 
mortgage and reside in said property until sale. 

i review of metadata from the electronic version of this document reveals that it appears to have been 

:rested on February 1 1,2004. 

162. It is my opinion that this note may be an attempt by Cunningham to conceal illegal bribes that 

le has received from Brent Wilkes. .For example, it may be a draft of a proposed agreement in which 



umingham attempts to classify falsely $900,000 in payments from Wilkes as a real estate investment. 

is my belief that this document (or drait document) is a sham and that Wilkes and Cunningham never 

ntered into an investment partnership. It is also my opinion that this unsigned note is similar to the letter 

resented to Mitch Wade (discussed previously) where Cunningham allegedly offered to pay the 

700,000 difference in sales price on his Del Mar home. 

163. Moreover, my review of the property records for 7094 Via Del Chano do not indicate that any 

rpe of Iien was placed on the property to reflect that Wilkes had an aImost $1 million interest. h 

idition, I have found no mention of any investment with Wilkes in Cunningham's Congressional 

nancial disclosure forms. 

164. In my opinion, this note appears to corroborate Wade's statements regarding Wilkes's $500,000 

ayment for Cunningham (through Tommy ~on to~ iann i s ) . s  Indeed, the note suggests that there are at 

:ast $400,000 in additional payments that Wilkes made to Cunningham that the Government has not yet 

iscovered. 

(18) Duke-Stir Boat ~ e ~ & r s  (SpringlSummer 2004) 

165. According to Wade, in mid-2004, Cunningham called and mentioned that he needed $6,500 

1 cash for boat expenses. Wade obtained the money (in fairly large denominations) from MZM's petty 

ash fund He then placed the cash in a plain manilla envelope. 

166. Wade took thi b u m  envelope to a fund-raiser that was being thrown at The Caucus Room 

:staurant in downtown Washington, D.C.. At the fund-raiser, he gave the envelope to Sheryl Jahns neb 

'ownsend (a Cunningham fund raiser) with instructions that it was for Duke Cunningham. 

167. Wade later checked with Cunningham to make sure that he had gotten the $6,500 in cash. 

Iumingharn indicated that he had, in fact, received the envelope from Dave Heil, Cunningham's then 

cting Chief of Staff. Heil also confirmed that he gave the envelope to Cunningham. In addition, Heil 

56/ The timing of the creation of the note aIso appears to support Wade's description of the 
Wilkes - Cunningham conversations regarding the $500,000 payment and the fact that Wacs wanted 
to characterize it as a loan. 
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old federal agents that Cunningham stated that the contents of the envelope represented Wade's half of 

;13,000 in repairs to the Duke-~tir.57' 

168. In addition to this payment, Wade indicated that Cunningham also requested that he provide 

unds for boat repairs on a variety of other occasions. According to Wade, he provided cash to 

hnningham several times, as well as, checks to both Cunningham and Will Whitehouse, Cunningham's 

oat mechanic. 

(19) $500,000 Pavment for Cunninvham (August 2004) 

169. As previously noted, Cunningham enlisted Elizabeth Todd's assistance in purchasing a $2.55 

lillion home in Rancho Santa Fe, California. According to Todd and confirmed by escrow records, 

hnningham netted $1,456,374.23 from his sale of his Del Mar home to Mitch Wade. These funds were 

?en put towards the Rancho Santa Fe home purchase. Cunningham financed the remainder of the 

lurchase price again using Coastal Capital. In total, Coastal Capital loaned Cunningham $1,095,000 so 

nat he could purchase the Rancho Santa Fe home. 

170. Michael told federal agents that his company Coastal Capital made two separate mortgage 

mns (nos. 7161401 and 7161725) related to Cunningham's Rancho Santa Fe home purchase in late 

Jovember 2003. The first mortgage was for $595,000 and the second mortgage was for $500,000. 

Gchael stated that Coastal sold the $595,000 loan (bearing a 5.85 percent interest rate) to Washington 

ilutual Bank, and the $5OO,OOO loan (bearing a 10 percent interest rate) to Parkview Financial, acompany 

lwned or controlled by Tommy ~ontogiannis-58/ 

17 1. A review of the United States Housing Settlement Statement reveals that: (1) the purchase 

irice for the Rancho Santa Fe home was approximately $2,564,682.69 (including closing costs, taxes and 

57/ According to Heil, towards the end of 2004, he confronted Cunningham regarding: (1) 
the Congressman's receipt of the cash from Wade; (2) Wade's purchase of the Del Mar house; and (3) 
Cunningham's use of Wade's boat. Heil told Cunningham that these transactions eventually were going 
to become public. Accordingly, he requested that the Congressman either resign or announce that he 
would not seek reelection. Heil indicated that Cunningham initially entertained this proposal. When 
Cunningham eventually decided he would neither resign nor retire at the expiration of his term, Heil 
decided to resign. 

2Y San Diego County Recorder's records confirm the sale of the Rancho Santa Fe home to 
Randall H. Cunningham and Nancy D. Cunningham for $2,550,000 (recorded on December 3,2003). 
These records also reflect the two notes to Coastal Capital. 

- - 
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tes); (2) Coastal Capital supplied a first mortgage on the property of $595,000; (3) Coastal Capital 

;upplied a second mortgage on the property of $500,000; (4) the Cunninghams supplied $1,469,020.78 

n "[dleposit or earnest money;"z' and (5) the seUer gave the Cunninghams a credit of $1,200. The 

Settlement Statement also revealed that at closing the borrower (i.e., the Cunninghams) was due $538.09. 

172. A review of San Diego County real estate records also reflect that there were two separate liens 

)ut on the Rancho Santa Fe home. Moreover, the records confirm that the first mortgage was for 

595,000 and the second mortgage was for $500,000. As of July 2005, both of these liens still appear 

n public records. 

173. Significantly, the Coastal Capital loan files (originally produced by John Michael) only 

:ontained loan applications for the $595,000 first mortgage-@' Moreover, the files fail to include a copy 

bf the $500,000 second mortgage note that was allegedly sold to Tommy Kontogiannis. When originally 

luestioned about the absence of this document from the Coastal Capital files, Michael stated that he had 

lo idea why it was missing. 

.174. The Coastal Capital records do not show that the $500,000 second mortgage was, in fact, 

jurchased by Tommy Kontogiannis or Parkview Financial, Similarly, the Parkview Financial initial 

?and jury production did not contain a copy of the $500,000 second mortgage. In other words, a review 

)f the ini'tial records obtained pursuant to Grand Jury Subpoena from both Coastal Capital and Parkview 

inancial did not reveal any paperwork that showed that the $500,000 second mortgage was purchased 

)r assumed by Kontogiannis. 

175. In my opinion, this paperwork was removed from the files in an attempt to conceal the fact that 

Contogiannis was laundering bribe proceeds from both Wilkes and Wade. As indicated previously, I 

~ l i e v e  that Wilkes $525,000 wire transfer to Parkview Financial was intended by Cunningham to pay 

591 A review of the escrow file and Union Bank of California records reveal that the 
$1469,020.78 in earnest money was comprised of: (1) a $5,000 check (number 3043) drawn on 
Cunningham's Union Bank account on October 19,2003; (2) a $250 deposit from the Heritage Escrow 
Company dated November 26, 2003; (3) $1,456,374.23 that was obtained on November 26, 2003 
directly from the sale of the Cunninghams' Del Mar home; and.(4) a $7,396.55 check (number 3056) 
drawn on Cunningham's Union Bank account on November 26,2003. 

Moreover, Cunningham' s loan application (signed and dated November26.2003) falsely 
indicates that he had received $1.8 million from the proceeds of his p e l  Mar] home. As previously 
noted, Cunningham, in fact, netted Iess than $2.5 million from the sales of his Del Mat home. 

-- 
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off his mortgage obligations. This conclusion is also supported by the fact that federal agents have been 

able to find only one $22,000 payment on the second mortgage. This payment which specifically 

references the second mortgage was issued on the Cunninghams Union Bank account on April 20, 2004.61/ 

176. This conclusion is also buttressed by the paperwork regarding the second mortgage supplied 

by Coastal Capital pursuant to Grand Jury subpoena. This paperwork includes a "Payoff Quote" dated 

May 6,  2004 for CCAP Loan Number 7161725. The loan references the borrower as Randall H. 

Cunningham and the property address as 7094 Via Del Charro, Rancho Santa Fe, California. The total 

amount due to pay off the loan on or before May 6,2004 is $502,538-75. 

177. Interestingly, to support the pay off of the loan, Coastal Capital produced a check (datedMay 
I 

6, 2004) in the amount of $512,538.75 from Thomas F. Cusack, attorney at law. In addition to the 

amount of this apparently "unrelated party" check being $10,000 more than @e pay off quote, the check 

references in the memo section Ylaussan," not Cunningham. Finally, a review of the deposit slip 

accompanying the $512,538.75 check suggests that the name "Cunninghani" was added on sometime 

after it had been processed by the bankg 

178. Despite the fact that approximately $5OO,OOO in mortgage obligations appear to have been paid 

off by Brent Willces in May 2004, Cunningham later approached Mitchell Wade for that same reyon. 

According to Wade, in August 2004, Cunningham called and asked Wade for an additional $300,000. 

By way of explanation, Cunningham asserted that Nancy Cunningham did not like debt, and that he 

wanted to pay off his mortgage on the Rancho Santa Fe residence. Thereafter, Cunningham called back 
l 

and increased his request to $500,000. At this point, Wade asked Cunningham to come down to his 

I 
office so they could discuss the issue. 

As noted previously, Kontogiannis has claimed in published reports that he paid off the 
$500,000 second mortgage as part of the purchase price for the Kelly C. This claim, however, ignores 
the fact that the boat was allegedly purchased approximately 18 months prior to Kontogiannis allegedly 
purchasing the second mortgage. It also ignores the Parkview Financial $40,000 check (number 1095) 

I made payable to Cunningham on November 22,2002 that indicated it was "[playment in full for boat"]. 

6'J - The use of Baussan's name and not Cunningham's (on the check) is consistent with a 
money laundering scheme. As previously indicated, it is my belief that the proceeds from the $525,000 

I wife transfer sent by Willces to Parkview was intended by Cunningham to be used to fund the paying off I of his mortgage obligations, 0 



179. When Cunningham came to MZM, he told Wade that the bottom line was that he needed 

$500,000. Wade agreed-63/ In order to disguise this bribe to Cunningham, Wade divided the $500,000 

into two unequal checks -one for $329,000 and one for $171,000. Wade made out both checks to Top 

Gun Enterprises. Although Wade made out both checks at the same time, he further attempted to disguise 

the illegal activity by utilizing different dates and non-consecutive check numbers. Finally, he added 

false notations on both checks that suggested a legitimate purpose. 

180. Federal agents have obtained copies of MZM check #6019 (dated August 25,2004), in the 

amount of $171,000 and MZM check #6OZ (dated August 27,2004), in the amount of $329,000. Both 

checks were made payable to Top Gun Enterprises, hc., and both bear the notations AF / Ace 

I Advertising, The backs of both checks bear the endorsement of Randall Harold cunningham, "CEO 

TGE." 

181. A further review of the endorsements on the two checks reveals that they were not deposited 

into the bank account for Top Gun Enterprise. Rather, the endorsements show that the checks were 

deposited into Parkview Financial's account at the North Fork Bank in New York. Although these funds 

did notremain in the Parkview Financial account, the Government has still not been able to conclusively 

determine what Kontoglannis has done with the proceeds from the two MZM checks. 

(i) Parkview Financial Subsequent Production 

182. As noted above, the initial subpoena productions from Coastal Capital andParkview Financial 

were missing many key documents. Following numerous Government requests to supplement the 

production, Parkview Financial provided additional records on September 12,2005. In this response, the 

Government received four manilla envelopes containing previously subpoenaed documents. Three of the 

four folders were labeled Title Report, First Mortgage, and Second Mortgage. The fourth folder 

contained a table of contents that indicated the enclosed records related to the "'Purchase of the Kelly C." 

~ c c o r d i n ~  to Wade, Cunninghammade it clear to him that in exchange for this $500,000 
payment (and his others),Cunningham would support MZM's efforts regarding DoD' s Fortress Program. 
According to Wade, Cunningham was instrumental in enabling MZM to secure approximately $25 
million in additional contracts for the Fortress Program. 



183. A review of the Title Report folder reveals that it contained a Preliminary Report .(dated 

?ebruary 14, 2005) and a First Superseding Preliminary Report (dated August 26, 2005) on 

lunningham's Rancho Santa Fe home. The initial report reflects both the $595,000 First Mortgage and 

he $500,000 Second Mortgage (both dated November 26,2003) held on the home by Coastal Capital. 

l e  First Superseding Preliminary Report reflects both of these mortgages as well as a reference to a 

bending forfeiture action filed by the United States Attorney's Office for the Southern District of 

2alifornia.w 

184. The folder IabeIedFirst Mortgage contains copies of the two MZM checks (nos. 6019 and 6023 

dated August 25 and 27,2004) totaling $500,000 that were made payable to Top Gun Enterprises, Inc. 

1s noted previously, these checks were endorsed by Cunningham and deposited into Parkview Financial. 

:hese two checks are contained on a single sheet of paper along with a copy of a $70,000 check that 

hningham made payable to Parkview Financial on August 29,2004. Along with these three copies, 

'arkview enclosed an "Account Quick Report" showing that this $570,000 was the ''Total Loan Held for 

nvestment." This report appears to have been printed on July 14,2005 (almost a year after the checks 

vere deposited). It is unclear, however, when the report was originally generated.= 

185. The folder also contains a $28,157.20 check (number 3091) that cunningham wrote to Coastal 

Zapital on June 2,2005. In addition, the folder contains a slip indicating the deposit of these funds by 

:oastal Capital (on June 17, 2005) a& a check for exactly the same amount from Coastal Capital to 

'arkview Financial, 1 Cross Island Plaza, Suite LL6, Rosedale, NY 11422. 

186. Accompanying these items is an "Other Name QuickReport" that purports to be listing a series 

~f checks apparently paid to Washington Mutual [the financial institution that purchased the First 

dortgage on Cunningham's home from Coastal Capital]. These checks begin on November 29,2004 

Interestingly, the file does not contain a title report that was issued on or before the 
mortgages were assumed by Coastal Capital. 

' Without accessing the computer at Parkview Financial, I am unabIe to state whether this 
document was fabricated recently in response to the Government' s investigation. However, based upon 
my experience and training and discussions with other federal agents, I h o w  that this may be able to 
be determined if we are able to obtain a mirror image of the computer that was used to generate this 
report. 



nd continue up to June 15,2005. The total amount of these checks appear to be $28,237.20 - exactly 

80 more than the amount of Cunningham's June 2,2005 check. This report appears to have been printed 

n September 9,2005. Once again, it is unclear when or why the report was originally generateLg 

187. In my opinian, this entire folder appears to be an attempt by Kontogiannis and Cunningham 

) fabricate financial schedules and payments to explain the $500,000 bribe given by Wade to 

lunningharn. This conclusion is supported by the fact that the $598,157.20 in checks deposited into 

arkview Financial's account were not used to pay off the $595,000 First Mortgage purchased by 

Jashington Mutual (as of September 13, 2005 over $580,000 remained outstanding on the First 

lortgage). 

188. Conspicuously absent from Parkview Financial's second production is any reference as to how 

he $570,000 received from Wade and Cunningham was spent. A review of records obtained from 

rorthfork Bank reveal that four days after the $570,000 was received by Parkview Financial, $490,000 

Ias transferred (on August 31, 2004) to a bank account in the name of Olympicorp International (no. 

724008562).Gi On September 7,2004, $13,000 was transferred to another Parkview Financia1 Account 

lo. 4724008166). Two days later, $40,000 in additional funds were transferred to OIympicorp 

iternational. All but $622 of the $570,000 was expended by September 21,2004. 

189. The folder labeled Second Mortgage contains several documents relating to the $525,00 

ayment made by Brent Wikes to Parkview Financial. In addition to the Payoff Quote (referenced 

reviously), Parkview included a "Cash Receipts Report By Number7' which appears to indicate that 

512,538.75 ($502,538.75 plus a $10,000 AppIication Fee) was necessary to pay off the Second 

lortgage. 

A review ofunion Bank records reveals that the Cunningham's paid a $3,519.65 monthly 
nortgage payment to Washington Mutual from January through October 2004. From Novemkr 2OO4 
&rough June 2005, the mortgage was paid by Parkview Financial (at a monthly rate of $3,529.65). It 
w unclear what prompted Kontogiannis to begin paying Cunningham's First Mortgage held by 
Washington Mutual in November 2004. In fact, after the investigation came to light, Cunningham cut 
the $28,157.20 check reimbursing Coastal Capital for the mortgage payments made by Parkview on 
Cunningham' s behalf. 

At the time of the $570,000 deposit, this Parkview Financial account only had $6,160.51 
an deposit. Moreover, the account did not have another deposit until September 21,2004. 



190. This folder also contained a signed Satisfaction of Deed of Trust that appears to indicate that 

le $500,000 Second Mortgage was paid off: The Satisfadion was signed on March 31, 2005 ,by a 

=presentative of Coastal Capital. Significantly, although the Satisfaction was sent to Cunningham (as 

=ferenced by a DHL packing slip), it wak never recorded. In other words, a review of the public 

xordings would indicate that both the First and Second Mortgages were outstanding. It is my belief that 

le Satisfaction was never recorded in order to conceal and disguise the fact that the payment by Wilkes 

ras a bribe given to Cunningham. 

191. 0n.m again, conspicbously absent h r n  Parkview Financial's second production is any 

:ference as to how the $525,000 received from Wilkes was spent, A review of records obtained from 

lorthfork Bank reveal that the same day the $525,000 was wire transferred into Parkview Financial's 

ank account (no. 4724008182), $500,000 was transferred to a personal money market-account in the 

arne of Annette Apergis or Eli& Apergis (no. 4724010162). Based upon a review of tax records, it 

ppears that Annette Apergis is the daughter of Thomas and Georgia Kontogiannis. 

(20) ~ o t e l s  and Vacations 

192. According to Wade, Cunningham asked (or expected) him to pay for a number of hotel stays 

ver the For example, in March 2004, Wade and Cunningharn traveled to Miami Beach and 

tayed at the Miami Delano hotel. A review of Wade's American Express business credit card reveals 

3,454.06 in charges at the Miami Delano for a March 8-9,2004 stay. According to Wade, he paid for 
. . 

private jet to fly Cunningham and him from Washington to Miami for this trip.69' 

193. In addition, Cunningham told Wade to book him a room in May 2004 at the Mandarin Oriental 

or Cunningham's daughter's college graduation. Wade recalls being asked by Cunningham to have a 

ake sent up for the celebration. A review of Mandarin Hotel records reveals a stay by Congressman 

68/ Cunningham's governmental financial disclosure forms for the last three calendar years 
do not contain any mention of paid vacations or other such benefits received from MZM or Wade. 

691 AS part of this trip, Wade and Cunningham stopped in Fort Lauderdale to look at a larger 
boat as Cunningharn felt the Duke-Stir was a bit small. In addition, during this time, Wade and 
Cunningham considered purchasing another larger boat at the Capital Yacht Club for Cunningham. 



tandall Cunningham on May 25-26,2004. These records indicate that the stay was arranged and paid 

or by MZM. 

194. A "guest folio" (seized during the execution of a federal search warrant on Cunningham's 

tancho Santa Fe home) from the Mandarin Hotel indicated that Randall Duke Cunningham had 

lccumulated $2,081.30 in charges during a May 25-26 stay at the Hotel. However, the folio also 

ndicates that Cunningham's rate for his May 25-26 stay was "0.00," and the balance due on his account 

vas "zero." On the other hand, a review of Wade's MZM American Express credit card reveals that the 

:orporation was charged $2,081.30 from the Mandarin Oriental Hotel in May 2004. 

1%. Cunningham also requested that Wade book him a room at the Mandarin Oriental Hotel for the 

!005 inauguration. A review of Mandarin Hotel records reveals that Jenny Lau of MZM, Inc., reserved 

I room for that January 16-23,2005 period. The records also show that Wade on behalf of MZM paid 

he $7,614.25 bil1.3 

33. IMPROPER CONGRESSIONAL INnUENCE 

196. Based on interviews with DoD personnel, review of contemporaneous records including emails, 

md other investigation, it appean that Cunningham, directly and through staffers in his office, repeatedly 

:xerted influence on DoD personnel in order to award contracts to ADCS and MZM. 

197. Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense (Resources) Cheryl J. Roby stated in an interview with 

ederal agents that (in approximately 2001), she had responsibility over the "FIRES" program- Pursuant 

o the FIRES program, ADCS had been doing document imaging under a $10 million congressional 

~ppropriation. Roby was not entirely satisfied with ADCS's performance, as they were simply scanning 

Iocuments but not providing a database to render that scanned image database easily usable. 

198. As a result of her dissatisfaction, Roby allocated only$8 million of the current award to ADCS 

- deciding to allocate $2 million to a different contractor for database creation. Roby immediately was 

701 - One former MZM employee, Kay James, stated that former Government Deputy General 
Counsel David Holmes was told by Wade's personal assistant, Jenny Lau, that during the inauguration, 
Wade told her to rent a suite at an exclusive local hotel using MZM's corporate credit card, and to 
provide the key to the room to Cunningham. However, a review of Cunningham's personal checking 
account does reveal an $8,000 check (dated January 18,2005) made payable to MZM / M. Wade. The 
notation on this check indicates it was for the D.C. Mandarin. 

il 



alled into Cunningham's office. Roby stated that Cunningham appeared visibly upset, and asked her 

1 a stern manner, 'What don't you understand . . . You are not executing my vision." According to 

Loby, it was clear that Cunningham was telling her to move all the money back to ADCS. 

199. Roby did not comply with Cunningham's directive. Thereafter, according to ~ o b y ,  she was 

dd  by several people that Cunninghay had attempted to get her fired. 

200. -Other DaD employees appear to be in .a position to corroborate Roby's account of 

hnninghm's desire to have her fired. Roby stated that her supervisor John Stenbit advised her at one 

oint that Cunningham had &ked him to fue Roby for not being a team player. In addition, Steve Jacques 

LTC-Retired, U.S. Air Force) allegedly heard a similar statement from Cunningham when he spoke to 

le Congressman at an event consisting of approximately 200 people. At the eveilt, Cunningham allegedly 

dd  Jacques that he was going to get Roby fired-ll' 

201. Wayne Wilson Jr., Director, Special Technology, Undersecretary-of Defense for Intelligence, 

Ad interviewing federal agents that Roby's former supervisor Art Money, former Deputy Assistant 

Iirector of Defensefor C31, also corroborated Roby's statement. According to Wilson, in around 2003, 

hnningham asked Money to fue Roby because she previously had not awarded a contract related to the 

TGIC (i-e. the FIRES program) to ADCS, as requested by Cunningham. 

202- According to Roby, in her experience, although Congressional support for variaus "pet 

~rojects" and contractors in their districts is common, the bluntness and force of Cunningham's approach 

nd attack on her went well beyond ordinary political pressure. 

203. ADCS and MZM have received millions of dollars of task orders under DoD BPAs from 

:FALZ/ that appear to have been aresult of their attempts to purchase influence through contributions and 

711 Jacques was recently interviewed by federal agents. He confirmed that Cunningham had 
referred to getting Roby fired at an event involving multiple people, but interpreted the Congressman's 
statement to be more of a joke; than a threat. Jacques also stated that the number of people present was 
more on the order of about 20. ' 

72/ According to DCIS Special Agent Jerry Crosby, CFA was created by DoD Directive 
Number 5105.67, issued on February 19,2002. CFA's mission under Directive 5105.67 "is to develop 
and manage DoD Counterintelligence (CI) programs and functions that support the protection of the 
Department, including CI support to protect DoD personnel, resources, critical information, research and 
development programs, technology, critical infrastructure, economic security, andU.S. interests, against 

(continued..) 



ifts to various politicians, most notably Cunningham. For example, MZM paid off ADCS7s $6 million, 

lflated invoice, referenced above, through a ClFA task order flask Order 0019).= In a November 8, 

002 written presentation, Wade highlighted his ability to deliver money to CIFA as a result of his 

longressional contacts. 

204. On a page entitled "Election Impact on Congressional Mandates," Wade listed a number of 

oliticians,w starting with Cunningham, all of whom won reelection in November 2002. Wade 

ommented at the bottom of the slide: "Election enhanced MZM, Inc. . . . Thus CIFA Position." On a 

age entitled 'Benefits to CIFA from Congressional Mandates Initiative Support," Wade trumpeted as 

ne item: 'Delivery of over $6?.62M in the last three fiscal years over budget -- no other entity within 

le CIFA family has accomplished this task." 

205. Task Order 0019 was for a Collaboration and Data Storage Center-again, this was the task 

rder related to ADCS's $6 million invoice and Wilkes's alleged $500,000 bribe to Cunningham. In a 

xies of emails dated December 10-11, 2003, DoD employees conferred about at least three calls 

xeived from Nancy Lifset (Cunningham's Legislative Director) about the project that became funded 

nder that task order. In a December 10,2003 email at 1254 p.m., DoD employee Sydney R. Willard 

z(. . .continued) 
foreign influence and manipulation, as well as to detect and neutralize espionage against the 
Department." CIFA has over 400 civilian and military employees whose main charter is detecting and 
neutralizing different types of espionage conducted against the United States by terrorists, foreign 
intelligence services, and other covert and clandestine groups. 

. . 

Task Order 0019 was awarded to MZM, which subcontracted the provision of computers 
thereunder to ADCS. DoD records reflect that this task order was a fixed-price project, which means 
that MZM agreed to a fixed price for its provision of certain goods and services to CIFA. Thus, MZM 
was free to maximize its profits by obtaining such goods and services for the lowest possible price. 
However, according to Wade, he recognized that Cunningham wanted WilkedADCS to reap $5 plus 
million in profits on the deal. In addition, MZM would still receive a sizeable profit from the contract 
even accounting for ADCS7s windfall. Thus, according to Wade, he did not attempt to squeeze more 
money out of the ADCS component of the contract because he did not want to incur the wrath of either 
Cunningham and Wilkes. 

741 - The Members of Congress listed by Wade are: Congressmen Randy Cunningham, Ton: 
DeLay, Denny Hastert, Duncan Hunter, Lewis, Allan Mollohan, John Murtha, David Weldon and Bill 
Young, and Senators Robert B yrd, Larry Craig, Robert Dole; Orin Hatch, Daniel Inouye, Trent Lott, Jaj 
Rockefeller and Richard Shelby. 



Just got a voice mail fro& Nancy Liffsett [sic] (202-225-7613) (Rep Cunningham's k g  air) re 
Global Infrastructure Data Capture (GIDC). 

Her comment was there is a $16.15M add to DW Class Programs C31 for GIDC. 
Her questions are: 'Has the Comptroller released the money to us? Have- we executed any of it, 
if so how much? AND, Who is the contractor?'She followed the last question with 'Tm hearing 
stories that I sure hope are not true--please reply ASAP" 

206. The initial email about the Lifset call w& forwarded and discussed via ernail amongst several 

)OD employees, including Karen Herndon. On December 11,2003 at 9:23 a.m., Herndon wrote that she 

just Ieft a voice mail for Nancy Lifset in CM Cunningham's office and advised her of the information 

Loxanne provided below regarding the status of the GIDC funding." 

207. The same day, December 11,2003, at 1 l:26 a.m., Herndon wrote another email (emphasis in 

dginal): 

I just spoke to Nancy Lifset who advised t [sic] the $16.1M for GIDC should go to ADCS, h c .  
and not MZM. Nancy said the GDC funding had gone to ADCS the previous two years and she 
had been informed that MZM was "trying to take this funding which is not theirs and she is very 
angry about this." MZM is slated to the be recipient of the $10.5M plus-up for the Defense Joint 
Counterintelligence Capability under the DJCIP. 

Nancy wants no funding executed for either program (GIDC or DJCIC) until this gets 
straightened out -- she wants to send a message to MZM. 

208. F&y-two minutes later, on December 11,2003, at 12: 18 p.m., Herndon sent a follow-up email 

3 various DoD employees (emphasis in original): 

~ a n e ~  ~ d s e t  just called to eat crow--she told me she was given bad information. Bottom line -- 
the $16.1M for GIDC should go to MZM as planned and referenced in Roxanne's e-mail. I 
confirmed that the $10LM for the DJCIC should go to as well. 

The GIDC funding evidently goes thru MZM to ADCS, Inc. possibly as a subcontract, Nancy ' 
apologized and said she knows she "just made every one [sic] in the Pentagon angry at her." 
She owes us one.... 

209. In an email communication dated December 13,2003 to Paul Andrews at the DoD Office of 

nspector General, Herndon summarized her concerns about the conduct of Cunningham's office as 

As I stated on the phone, since the incident with CM Cunningham several years ago with my boss 
Cheryl Roby, we have always either confirmed the congressional intent of these adds with House 
Appropriations Committee (HAC) Staffers or Senate Appropriation Committee (SAC) Staffers thru 
the USD (Comptroller) office unless it is an ongoing contract (Ue this situation) where we h e w  
MZM was tagged to get the funding. There is no "written mandate" for these adds other than to 
make sure we confirm the congressional intent if indeed there is one. The questions above are 
really legal questions beyond my scope but as I have stated the previous situation with CM 



Cunningham (and in this case Nancy Lifset) made it abundantly clear that they.wil1 elevate these 
issues to our management if we "defy the will of Congress" by not complying with their direction. 

Ierndon further wrote that she was concerned that "CM Cunningham would start making calls to our 

lanagement here in OSD to advise that we were not complying with congressional intent of this finding. 

'everal years ago, CM Cunningham tried to get my boss, Cheryl Roby, fired for a similar situation where 

1e funding he had added had gone to the wrong  contractor."^ 

210. Herndon continued: "I don't know if ADCS gave Nancy the wrong information and told her 

QA4 was trying to 'take' the funding--but as you can see from the last e-mail, MZM was a 'pass-thru' 

?r this funding (possibly as a subcontractor) to go to ADCS." Herndon then questioned: "By what 

uthority can Congress or a member of Congress mandate monies to be allocated to a specific contractor 

x execution on behalf of the particular DoD entity and/or DoD Program?" 

21 1. OnDecember 17,2003, severalDoD employees discussed a contact with MZM, wherein MZM 

pparently represented that it had mandate money "for 'data storage' which Mitch Wade [was] willing 
2 

:lo spend on the 2nd floor conference center." This center was known as the Collaboration and Data 

torage Center ("CDCS"). 

212. On December 19, 2003, MZM employee Frank B. Bragg emailed DoD employee David 

lrawford with a proposed Statement of Work for the CDCS, which appears to be drafted not by the DoD, 

ut by MZM. 

213. On February 20,2004, DoD employee Tarnmy Famoso emailed several other DoD employees 

state that thigovernment "contracting officer made the award today to MZM for the CI Collaboration 

nd Data Storage Center. I've already let Curt know so that he can contact staffers for Cunningham." 

214. A letter signed by Cunningham on or before February 24,2004, congratulates the Director of 

F A  regarding the Collaboration Center, stating in full as follows (emphasis added): 

I wish to take this opportunity to thank your staff for supporting the recent execution of the 
Counterintelligence Field Activity (CIFA) Collaboration Center Program. Additionally, I wish to 
endorse and support MZM, Idc.'s work, under your Statement of Work, DTD 20Feb04. 

I-Y It is my belief that Herndon is referring to the incident discussed above involving the 
NGIC FIRES program. 



As the Collaboration Center is completed, I hope to help you inaugurate the center as I did 
at the inception of CIFA. 

~ccording to Wade, MZM actually authored this letter on Cunningham's congressional stationary. 

215. On March 8, 2004, having already drafted the Statement of Work for the contract, h4ZM 

mployee Frank Bragg emailed DoD employr5es a.draft letter to be signed by DoD employees authorizing 

IZM to "immediately initiate purchase orders," including "authorization to bill during March 2004 up 

$6,000,000.00," which MZM used to bill the-DoD for ADCS's inflated invoice. 

216. In a series of emails fromMarch 8-12,2004, DoD employees reviewedBragg's draft letter, and 

n March 12,2004, DoD employee Mark Deeds responded, in part, as follows: "I do not believe it is in 

ie best interest to the Government for me [to] sign the letter you provided. The letter states that I, as the 

:OR [Contracting Officer], provide blanket approval for MZM to -execute over $12,000,000 of 

ovemment funding with very little accountability or oversight. that I can see. I need to know what the 

Dvernment is buying.and how it meets the goals CIFA established for the DoD CI Collaboration Center." 

217. On August 13,2004, the DoD Inspector General received a hot line complaint from a CIFA 

nployee alleging that Task Order 001 9 was awarded improperly - as the necessary documentation (i-e., 

congressional mandate) was never enacted. The ClFA employee further noted that Cunningham was 

EM'S "Sugar Daddy" who takes care of the company.76/ 

218. On October 20, 2004, DoD employee Mark Youmans sknt a letter to MZM raising.severa1 

:oncerns" about MZM s performance and billings for the CDSC. In this letter, DoD referred to an April 

2,2004 invoice from MZM for $6 million, and stated that an "independent cost assessment by CIFA 

isclosed a huge discrepancy between the invoiced amount and the fair market value of the equipment 

:tually provided by MZn" 

219. In response, MZM simply provided Youmans with an ADCS invoice (number 1180-01)- The 

quipment delivered by ADCS was comprised almost entirely of off-the-shelf items (e.g., Dell laptops, 

bell canying cases, Dell scrolling mouses, Dell laser printers, Ricoh printers). The invoice provides no 

In his June 23,2005 public statement, Cunningham denied taking any action to unduly 
nfluence the awarding of defense contracts to MZM, and even claimed inability to do so: "I do not have 
:he authority or-ability to award a contract to M- Wade's company and no single Member of Congress, 
lo matter how influential, can dictate to the Armed Services who will be awarded contracts." 



nit pricing and simply lists an overall amount of $6 million (and a $30,000 discount for prompt 

layment). 

220. In emails dated March 30, 2005, DoD employees discuss a new "Data Acquisition and 

:onversion" project for which $12,544,000 was apparently allocated. At approximately 10:41 a.m. on 

h c h  30, CIFA's Chief Technical Scientist, Theodore Wiatrak, asks other DoD/CIFA employees via 

mail: "Is our guidance to give all of this money to MZM?" Subsequent emails indicate that Wiatrak 

romptly received an affirmative response, that MZM was to receive all of the new money. 

221. That same day, at approximately 12:26 p.m., Wiatrak objects: "Because we are being directed 

1 pass the money to a single contractor who perfoimed poorly on the last effort, I believe this is wrong 

nd respectfully decline to participate." In response to his complaints, Wiatrak was simply informed by 

llFA employee, Luis Elizondo, (by email forwarded on March 3 1, at 7:08 a.m.) that CIFA's Deputy 

hc to r ,  Joseph Hefferon, directed that CIFA stay with MZM. 

222. On April 11,2005, Amy Dall, ClFA's Chief Information Officer, also objected to the use of 

for the new project: 'We have not been happy with the lack of responsiveness on the part of h4zIVl 

n the current contract and the new statement of work includes development tasks which may extend 

eyond MZM's expertise. Since this order did not undergo a competition as we had requested and as I 

ad documented, I suggest that either we reconsider the acquisition strategy and openly compete it or we 

onsider making Nick Bemish or Brian DeMon-ow or some other CIFA individual the TM [technical 

lanager] . . . I cannot in good faith have one of my folks serve as TM on an acquisition process we did 

ot support, were not consulted on and had stated during the SOW [Statement of Work] working group 

ffort would not be supported by us." 

223. According to former MZM Senior Vice President Susan Hogan, in approximately May 2005, 

House Appropriations Committee staffer who is a personal friend of Hogan's was inquiring of 

:unningham7s staff to get more details about a new multi-million-dollar appropriation item. 

:unningham's staff delayed providing details and asked the staffer to simply write up the request in 

,enera1 terms to pass it through. Further, Cunningham called the staffer in for a meeting. Cunningham 

Ad the staffer that he did not like to hear people badmouthing h4ZM. Cunningham asked her why her 



iiend Susan Hogan was leaving MZM. When the staffer suggested that Hogan might be seeking a better 

,alary elsewhere, Cunningham quoted Hogan's MZM salary to the staffer, and asked why Hogan would 

vant more.= 

224. Wade related that in addition to MZM, Congressman Cunningham also used his influence to 

lssist Brent Wikes and ADCS. Indeed, Wade believes that Wilkes (whose backgroundis in the financial 

vorld) has survived for years not on ADCS's ability to produce a first rate product, but on his 

:ongressional contacts. Jn this regard, he is aware of numerous instances where Cunningham andtor his 

taff apparently placed pressure on DoD components in order to support ADCS's contracting  effort^.^ 

C. ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE DUKE-STIR 

225. On July 1, 2005, Wade's legal representatives were informed that the government was 

xecuting a search warrant on the Duke-Stir. Wade's representatives went to the dock at the Capital 

racht Club and observed the government in the process of searching the vessel. 

226. On or about July 8, 2005, Wade's attorneys received a letter from the Commodore of the 

Iapital Yacht Club, which was copied to one of Cunningham's attorneys, asking that the Duke-Stir be 

loved as it was drawing too much media attention. Wade's attorneys reportedly informed Cunningham's 

ttomeys that they intended to move the Duke-Stir, and that they intended to box up loose items in 

reparation for the move. Cunningham's attorneys had no objection, stating that Cunningham himself 

ad moved off of the boat two weeks earlier, before the search. 

227. On or about ~ u l y  11,2005, paralegals and others from the law firm representing Wade boxed 

p and organized numerous loose items on the Duke-Stir, cataloging approximately 2 boxes from a front 

mm, 15 boxes from the main mom, 7 boxes from a back room, and several other miscellaneous 

ontainers such as luggage bags, and plastic tote bins. The boxes were sealed. 

77/ - Hogan informed federal agents that she was shocked when told that Cunningham knew 
exactly how much she was making at MZM. 

781 - Among other things, Wade related how ADCS always sought firm fixed price contracts 
that gave it wide latitude to gouge the Government on the price of specific items. According to Wade, 
MZM began its relationship with ADCS as a .subcontractor. After several years, mainly due to 
complaints within DoD, MZM was substituted as the Prime Contractor and ADCS became the 
subcontractor. However, Wade understood that, with respect to the Collaboration and Data Storage 
Center, his company's role was mainly to act as a pass-through enabling ADCS to continue receive 
millions of dollars in profits. 
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228. On or about July 13,2005, a captain hired by Wade's attorneys navigated the Duke-Stir from 

he Capital Yacht Club in Washington, D.C. to its present location in Maryland 

229. On or about July 20, 2005, couriers hired by Wade's attorneys moved the boxes and other 

niscellaneous containers fromthe Duke-Stir to the offices of Wade's attorneys in Washington, D.C. The 

boxes and other containers remained secured in Wade's attorneys' Iaw offices until received by the IRS 

In July 28,2005. 

230. On or about July 22,2005, Wade's attorneys sent the Government copies of items that they had 

moved from the boat earlier in the week These items included: (1) a picture of Cunningham next to 

le  Rolls Royce (purchased by Wade) in the Congressional garage; (2) a May 6,2005 invoice for work 

.one on the Suburban (sold to Cupingham by Wade for $10,000) made out to Duke Cunningham; (3) 

notepad referencing ' m m  K" with the phone number (5 16) 924-2920;z1 (4) a business card from the 
, . 

Aandarin Oriental Hotel (where Wade allegedly purchased rooms for Cunningham); (5) a notepad 

[f'Jrom'the desk of: Ms. Georgia Kontogiannis;. (6) numerous sheets- with handwriting that I believe to 

Ie Cunningham's; and (7) directions that I believe to be for the Glen Cove Marina (where the Kelly C 

{as stored). 

231. In addition, Wade's attorneys sent the Government copies of several Cunningham 

:ongressional note cards. The front of one note card contains ten rows of handwritten numbers arranged 

n- two columns: 

In July 2005, IRS Agent Jamie Harrison was contacted by Tommy Kontogiannis from 
this phone number. Mr. Kontogiannis stated that this number was, in fact, his cell phone. 



232. According to Wade, what Cunningham wrote (and discussed with him at the Daily Grill in 

;eorgetown) was essentially a governmentcontract menu, complete with prices. The left column 

:presented the millions in government contracts that Wade could "ordef' from Cunningham. The right 
t. 

olumn represented the value of the bribes that Cunningham was demanding from Wade in exchange for 

le contracts. For example, Cunningham's menu offered Wade $16 million in government contracts in 

xchange for giving up his claim to the boat ("BT') the Duke-Stir for which he paid $140,000 ( " ~ 4 0 " ) . ~  

233. . According to Wade, the next four rows indicate that he would receive an additional million 

.ollars in funding for every additional $50,000 that Wade paid to Cunningham. Once Wade had bought 

~e $140,000 boat for Cunningham and provided Cunningham with an additional $200,000, 

lunningham's rates dropped, and, as the final five rows reflect, Cunningham would charge Wade 

25,000 for each additional million in government contracts. 

234. Upon inquiry, Wade's representatives confirmed that all of the items they removed consisted 

f possessions that Cunningham had left on the DukeStir. These items, included, but were not limited 

1, Cunningham's clothing, documents, and personal effects (e.g., a gray sweatshirt with the logo of The 

loeur d' Alene Resort). On or about August 3,2005, the Government executed a search warrant .upon 

ie items removed from the boat. 

IT. 

A. 1 Cross Island Plaza. 133-33 Brookville Blvd, Suite LL6, Rosedale. NY 11422 

235. On July 14,2005, at approximately 11.25 a.m., Special Agents Jamie Harrison and James Bird 

~terviewed John Michael at Coastal Capital's offices at 1 Plaza Road, Greenvale, New York 11548. At 

lat time, Michael informed the agents that Parkview Financial was located at 1 Cross Way [sic] Plaza 

I Rosedale, New York 

236. According to records obtained from numerous sources, Parkview Financial is, in fact, located 

t 1 Cross Island Plaza, Suite LL6, in Rosedale, New York. For example, bank records obtained from 

!" 

LZ' AS set forth above, Wade, in fact, paid $140,000 to buy the Duke-Stir for Cunningham- 
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he North Fork Bank reveal that Parkview Financial maintains numerous bank accounts (e-g., nos. 

C724008158, 4724008166,4724008174 and 4724008182) that have their statements mailed to 1 Cross 

sland Plaza Suite LL6, Rosedale, NY 11422.u Similarly, records obtained from the New York City, 

Iepartment of Finance, Office of the Register, also list Parkview Financial's address as 1 Cross Island 

'lam, Rosedale, New Y0rk.g 

237. On July 14,2005, at approximately 5:35 p.m., Agents Harrison and Bird went to Suite TL6 

vhich was located on the lower level of 1 Cross Island Plaza (which is also hown as 133-33 BrookvilIe 

3oulevard), Rosedale, New York. The reception area of Lt6 contained a sign indicating that it was the 

:orPorate office of Bond and Walsh Construction Company. The reception area to Suite L U  provided 

mess to the main area of Suite LL6 through a locked door controlled by the receptionist. 

238. The agents asked the receptionist if they could speak with Carmine Cuomo, personal assistant 

o Tommy Kontogiannis.w The receptionist contacted Cuomo in his ofices that were located directly 

cross the hall from the reception area in what appeared to be a different section of Suite LL6. Cuomo 

:ntered the reception area of Suite LL6 and greeted the agents. He then led the agents back to his office 

vhich was located immediately outside the main entrance to LL6 and accessed through a short hallway. 

239. Once in his office, Cuomo told the agents that his official title was Vice-president of 

purchasing for Bond and Walsh Construction Company. Cuomo stated that Bond & Walsh was'one of 

nany businesses owned by Kontogiannis: In addition to his role with Bond & Walsh, Cuomo stated that 

le also acted as a "trouble shooter" for Kontogiannis and was available for all assigned duties. 

8 1/ - A review of checks from the North Fork Bank reveal numerous items which reference 
1 Cross Island Plaza, Suite LL6, as the address for Parkview Financial. For example, an undated $2028 
check to ClT (the note holder on the Kelly C) that references the "Boat loan" was paid out of Parkview 
Financials Disbursement Clearing Account, 1 Cross Island Plaza, Suite LL6, Rosedale, NY 1 1422- 1484. 

82/ In addition, records obtainedfrom the IRS reveal that the Parkview Financial Centerhc., 
lists its business address as 1 Cross Island Plaza Suite LL6, Rosedale, NY 11422. This address is also 
listed on a Currency Transaction Report (CTR) filed by the North Fork bank on behalf of Parkview 
Financial and an affidavit of compliance filed with the State of New York. 

On July 13,2005, Special Agents Lamont Siller and Sam Medigovich interviewed James 
Dias, owner of Accredited Marine Surveyors in New York. Dias told the agents that he was asked to 
do a survey of the Kelly C (in order to determine its condition) by a Mi. Carmine Cuomo. According 
to Dias, Cuomo stated that the survey should be addressed to Duke Cunningham c/o Axxion. 



240. Cuomo also provided the agents with a business card that Listed his title as the Vice-president 
. - 

)f Bond & Walsh. This card listed Cuomo's office address as: 1 Cross Island Plaza, Rosedale, New 

fork. The card also listed (718) 712-1000 as one of Carmine's ofice phone numbers. As noted 

mviously, this w& the same phone number that Brent Wilkes was told to utilize when contacting 

~onto~iannis' s daughter in reference to the $525,000 payment that he was instructed by Cunningham to 

vire to Parkview ~inancia1.e 

241. The agents asked Cuomo what he knew about Parkview Financial. Cuomo flatly stated that he 

lad never heard of a mortgage company called Parkview Financial and that Konto&annis does not own 

I company by that name. Cuomo also refused to give the agents his home address. 

,242. On their way out of 1 Cross Island Plaza, Agent Harrison asked the security guard if she knew 

he location of Parkview Financial. After checking some paperwork at the security station, the guard 

tated that Parkview Financial was located in Suite LL6. 

3 .  After receiving this infomtion, the agents returned to Suite LL6 and spoke with Cuomo. The 

lgents asked Cuomo why he had misled them about the location of Parkview Financial. In reply, Cuomo 

naintained his story that he had never heard of Parkview and such a company was not associated with 

bite LL6. 

244. On their way out, the agents again spoke with the security guard. At this time, she stated that 

he would not talk with them and was mistaken. She also told them that she was instructed by the 

d d i n g  manager (who was in Suite LL6) not to provide the agents with any further information. She 

hen left to go get the building manager. 

245. The agents were shortly joined by Cuomo and the building manager, Peter Zaphiris. The 

building manager stated that he worked for Brookville Plaza Management which was located in Suite 

L6. However, he also denied having any knowledge of Parkview Financial. At that time, the agents 

sked Zaphiris about Olympus - another company listed on the directory as being in Suite LL6. Once 

 gain, Zaphiris stated that he had never heard of the company. 

841 - A check with the phone company reflects that this number is subscribed to by Brookville 
Plaza Management, Inc., 133-33 Brookville Blvd, Rosedale, NY. 



246. During this conversation, Cuomo handed Agent Bird a cell phone and told him that 

Contogiannis's daughter, Annette, wanted to. speak to Bird Upon taking the phone, Bird heard a male 

roice who identified himself as Tom Kontogiannis. Kontogiannis told Bird that Parkview Financial, 

uas, in fact, located in Suite LL6. However, he explained that Cuomo and Zaphiris were unaware that 

he mortgage company was in Suite LL6. Kontogiannis identified Annette Johnson as the individual who 

mew about Parkview Financial. 

247. The government investigation has revealed that Kontogiannis runs numerous other businesses 

ut- of Suite LL6. According to North fork Bank, the following accounts are associated with 

Lontogiannis and have had statements mailed to Suite LL,6 within the last three months: (1) Bond lk 

Kalsh Construction Company (no. 47211008778); (2) Axxion Group LLC (no. 4724009792); (3) Group 

Cappacop. (no. 4724006210); (4) Brookville PlazaManagement, Inc. (no. 4724006988); (5) Edgewater 

Ievelopment Inc. (no. 4724008190); (6) G-Lack Farms Inc. (no. 4724008208); (7) Edgewater 

Ievelopment Homeowners Assoc. (no. 4724010063); (8) South Island Mortgage Corp. (no. 

,724010089); (9) Loring EstatesLLC (no. 4724010329); (10) Plato Holding LLC (no. 4724010758); (1 1) 

Vaterway Properties (no. 472401 1327); (12) Canusa Corp. (no. 472401 1657); (13) Canusa Corp. (No. 

-XUOll665); (14) Glack Forms Inc. (no. 472401 1673); (15) Chloe Foods Cop. (no. 4724-01 1863); (16) 

1301 Atlantic Avenue LU3 (no. 47240102036); (17) Conat Realty LLC (no. 4724012044); (18) Triumph 

ibstract (no. 4724012424); (19) BRF Acquisition U C  (no. 4724013067); (20) Risk Management 

lervices Group LLC (no. 4724013083); and (22) Westshore 480 Development LLC (no. 4724012770).~ 

248. A review of IRS records reveal that Kontogiannis used 1 Cross Island Plaza, Suite LL6, 

!osedale, NY 11422 when: (1) corresponding with Washington Mutual Bank (Acct. No. MTG 

According to North fork Bank, the following accounts are associated with Kontogiannis 
and have had statements -mailed to 1 Cross Island Plaza, Rosedale, NY 11422 within the last three 
months: (1) Thomas Kontogiannis (no. 4726051610); (2) Olympicorp International ILC (no. 
4724008562); (3) Malba Bay Estates hc .  (no. 4724009701); and (4) BRF Illinois (no. 472401 1814). 
According to the bank, the statements for these accounts did not contain a suite number. It should also 
be noted that the following accounts are associated with Kontogiannis and have had statements mailed 
to 1 Cross Island Plaza, Suite LL2, Rosedale, NY 11422 within the last three months: (1) InterArnercian 
Mortgage Corp. (No. 4724008125); (2) C-LP. Mortagage [sic] Corp. (no. 4724010907); (3) C.I.P. 
Mortagage [sic] Corp. (no. 4724010915); and (4) C.I.P. Mortagage [sic]. Corp. (no. 4724010923). 

- 



605559483, MTG 0605560044); and (2) when reporting the sales of stocks and bonds relating to Lewco 

kcurities Corp and BNY Clearing Services (no. WF6OO 1797 1). 

B. 12 Woodfield Lane, Glen Head, New York 11545 

249. According to records obtained from the IRS, Thomas Kontogiannis lists 12 Woodfield Lane, 

ilen Head, New York 11545, as his address on the last personal income tax return that he has filed with 

he IRS (2001 Form 1040). Similarly, Kontogiannis' K-1 forms, various W-2 forms, numerous 1098 

o m  (reflecting mortgage interest paid), and numerous 1099-Int forms for 2000 through 2004 indicate 

hat his address is: 12 Woodfield Lane, Glen Head, New York 11545. 

250. According to a database search of the Integrated Data Retrieval System ("IDRS") by IRS 

lpecial Agent Jamie Harrison, Kontogiannis utilized 12 Woodfield Lane, Glen Head, New York 11545 

s his address when he received W-2's from LCK Services Corp. and a W-2G (gambling winnings) from 

'he New York Racing Association. Kontogiannis also used his Glen Head address when he received K-1 

mtnership distributions from 3301 Atlantic Avenue UC, Seaview Estates Inc., and Byzantine 

3ntertainment LLC. 

251. A-review of a Form 1099-MISC filed with the IRS for the 2000 tax year, reveal that 

Contogiannis also utilized 12 Woodfield Lane, Glen Head, New York 11545 when receiving income 

rom the New York Horse Racing Association. (Acct. No. 15411). 

252. A review of IRS records reveal that on his Fairbanks Capital Corp account, Kontogianni: 

ltilized 12 WoodfieId Lane, Glen Head, New York 11545 as his mailing address. In particular, 1: 

Voodfield Lane, Glen Head, was used by Kontogiannis andFairbanks Capital Corp on his 2002 and200: 

i ~ r m s  1099-Int and 1098 (reflecting mortgage interest paid) (no. MTG-400 1369 133). 

253. A review of IRS records reveal that Kontogiannis utilized 12 WoodfieldLane, Glen Head, Nel 

fork 11545 as his mailing address when processing 2003 New York State credits or offsets for a trai 

)r business. In particular, 12 Woodfield Lane, Glen Head, was used by Kontogiannis and the State ( 

rlew York Forms 1099-G (Acct. No. 69425785,6328743 8,63287265). 

254. A review of numerous Forms 1098 (reflecting mortgage interest paid) filed with the IRS f 

he 2003 tax year, reveal that Kontogiannis utilized 12 ~ o d i e l d  Lane, Glen Head, New York 114 



vhendealing with Parkview Financialcenter Inc. (Acct. No. 15921,16182,16180,16181,15922,15989, 

6056). 

255. A review of another Form 1098 filed with the IRS for the 2000 and 2001 tax year, reveals that 

Contogiannis again utilized 12 Woodfield Lane, Glen Head, New York 11545 when dealing with Bank 

)f America (Acct. No. RSC0020489183 & MTG 0020489813). 

256. According to records obtained from the IRS, Geoi-gia Kontogiannis lists 12 Woodfield Lane, 

Xen Head, New York 11545, as her address on the last personal income tax return that she has filed with 

he IRS, which was for year 2001. 

257. According to North Fork Bank, the following accounts are associated with Georgia or Lisa 

tontogiannis and have had statements mailed to 12 Woodfield Lane, Glen Head, New York 1 1545 within 

he last three months: (1) Georgia ~ontogiannis (no. 4726058151); and (2) Lisa Kontogiannis (no. 

,726049556). 

258. On or about August 31,2005, the Long Island Power Authority revealed that the utilities at 12 

Yoodiield Lane, Glen Head, New York 1 1545 were subscribed to by Thomas and Georgia Kontogiannis. 

hese records also indicated that the Kontogiannis's home telephone number was (5163 674-0224. A 

heck with Verizon indicated that this telephone number (as recently as August 13,2005) was subscribed 

3 by Thomas Kontogiannis at 12 Woodfield Lane, Old Brookville, New York 11545. 

C. 1 Plaza Road, Greenvale. New York 11548 

259. On July 14, 2005, as indicated above, Special Agents Jamie Harrison and James Bird 

nterviewed John Michael at Coastal Capital's offices, According to Agent Bird, Coastal Capital 

ppeared to occupy the entire building at 1 Plaza Road in Greenvale, NY. The business had a main 

xeption area on the first floor and John Michael's personal office was located above it on the second 

loor. 

260. According to Agent Harrison, Michael's office had numerous records contained all over and 

round his desk area. In addition, Michael utilized a computer located on his desk to access a variety of 

scords, including files related to mortgage loans obtained by Cunningham. 



26 1. A review of Cunningham's escrow files related to the purchase of Cunningham's condominium 

scated at 121 1 S. Eads Street #2002, Arlington, Virginia, and his residence located at 7094 Via Del 

Zharro, Rancho Santa Fe, CA 92067, reveals that both properties were purchased using the services of 

oastal capital, 1 Plaza Road, Greenvale, New York, 1 1548. My review of these records also reveals that 

lost of the correspondence and documentation relating to these transactions went to Coastal Capitals 1 

'laza Road office. 

262. On August 31, 2005, Special Agent Lamont Siller entered the building at 1 Plaza Road. 

~ccording to Agent Siller, he observed a goldsign bearing the words "Coastal Capital, suite 100" affixed 

a wall directly inside the front door next to a glass door outside Suite 100. There is also a sign reading 

Coastal Capital" and one reading 'The Mortgage Shop" affixed to a green pained wall which can be seen 

lrough the glass doors to Suite 100. 

263. According to Agent Siller, Coastal Capital appears to occupy a large poxtion of 1 Plaza Road 

nd a sign bearing the words "Coastal Capital delivery entrance" is located outside of the door to Suite 

07. Immediately above Suite 100 on' the second floor of 1 Plaza Road, Agent Siller observed a large 

ffice area and a sign indicating that it was the location of the Executive Offices for Coastal Capital / The 

fortgage Shop. 

264. The government investigation has also revealed that Kontogiannis runs numerous businesses 

ut of Coastal Capital's offices. According to North Fork Bank, the following accounts (controlled by 

~dfor associated with Kontogiannis) have had statements mailed to 1 Plaza Road, Greenvale, NY, within 

le last three months: (1) Coastal Capital Corp. (no. 4724008034); (2) Coastal Capital Corp. (no. 

724008257); (3) Coastal Capital Corp. (no. 4724008265); (4) Coastal Capital Corp. (no. 4724008273); 

i) Coastal Capital Corp. (no. 4724008281); (6) Coastal Capital Corp. (no. 4724008299); (7) Coastal 

'apital Corp. (no. 4724008307); (8) Coastal Capital Corp. (no. 4724008745); (9) Coastal Capital Corp. 

lo. 4724008752); (10) First Performance Corp. (no. 4724010873); (1 1) First Performance Corp. (no. 

72401088 1); (12) First Performance Recovery Corp. (no. 4724.01 lOO4); (13) First Performance 

ecovery Corp. (no. 472401 1012); (14) D U 0 Cash Inc. (no. 472401 1061); (15) Onlinetelcard.com (no. 

72401 1087); (16) Duocash Inc (no. 472401 1152); (17) Suite 300 Services C o p  (no. 472401 1160); (18) 



)nlinetelcard.com (no. 4724011848); (19) Anperg Inc. (no. 4724012275); and (20) Worldwide 

imulcasting Inc. These records also show that The Axxion Group LLC lists as its address, 1 Plaza Road, 

ireenvale, NY. 

265. According to records obtained from the New York State Department of State, Division of 

:orporations, Coastal Capital Corporation is located at 1 PlazaRoad, Greenvale, NY 11548. According 

, these records, this address is utilized as Coastal Capital's: (1) office address; (2) principal office 

ddress; (3) service address; and (4) office of its chairman, John Michael. 

266. According to records obtained from the IRS, Axxion Group LLC was formed in January of 

002 and lists 1 Plaza Rd., Greenvale, NY 11548, as its business address. 

267. A review of records obtained from the phone company in September 2005 reveal that Coastal 

apitd has subscribed to multiple numbers using the address of 1 Plaza Rd, Greenvale, NY 11548. 

v. 
ITEMS TO BE SEIZED 

268. Based upon my training and experience and discussions with other agents from the IRS, FBI, 

~d DCIS, I am aware that individuals involvedin illegal activities often maintain books, receipts, notes, 

dgers and other records to conduct their illegal activities, even though such documents may be in code 

~rm. I am further aware that it is common for individuals involved in illegal activities to hide proceeds 

ncluding, but not limited to, currency, financial instruments, and other items of value andfor proceeds 

f the illegal activities, and records of illegal activities) in secure locations, on their persons, and within 

ieir containers, residences, offices, garages, storage buildings, and safe deposit boxes for ready access, 

nd to conceal such items from law enforcement authorities. 

269. Based upon my training and experience and discussions with other agents from the IRS, FBI, 

~d DCIS, I am aware that individuals use and maintain records, documents, and files (written, printed, 

lagnetic, and electronic) that are evidence of criminal acts and reflect the receipt and disposition of 

legally obtained proceeds of income. 

270. Based upon my training and experience and discussions with other agents from the IRS, FBI, 

~d DCIS, I am aware that principals involved in this type of illegal activity often commingle funds 



placing legitimate and illegitimate funds together in an attempt to conceal and mask illegal activity), put 

otations on checks making things that are illegitimate appear to be legitimate and othen?rise attempt to 

onceal their criminal activity by disguising it as normal business activity. 

271. Based upon my training and experience and discussions with other agents from the IRS, FBI, 

nd DCIS, I am aware that principals involved in this type of illegal activity often place assets in names 

ther than their own (or in limited liability corporations, partnerships or other legal entities) to avoid 

etection of these assets by law enforcement agencies. I am further aware that even though these assets 

lay repose in other persons' (or entities') names, these individuals act as the beneficiaries and continue 

) use these assets and exercise dominion and control over them. 

272. Based upon my training and experience and discussions with other agents from the IRS, FBI, 

rld DCIS, I am aware that individuals involved in illegal financial fraud activities amass large proceeds 

rom these activities, and that these individuals often attempt to legitimize these proceeds. I know that 

accomplish these goals, these individuals often utilize a number of vehicles and mechanisms, 

~cluding, but not limited to: foreign and domestic banks and their attendant services, securities, cashiers' 

hecks, money drafts, letters of credit, brokerage houses, real estate, shell corporations, and business 

ants. 

273. Based upon my training and experience and discussions with other agents from the IRS, FBI, 

nd DCIS, I am aware that individuals and corporations involved in money laundering activities md 

ther illegal financial fraud activities at times attempt to conceal substantial wealth from law enforcement 

uthorities, and in particular the IRS, if they have acquired such wealth from illegal activjties or are 

ttcmpting to evade the proper tax liability resilting from such wealth. 

274. Based upon-my training and experience ai~d discussions with other agents from the IRS, FBI, 

ad DCIS, I am aware that individuals frequently maintain books, records, receipts and other items 

videncing the obtaining, secreting, transfer andor concealment of assets, and the obtaining, secreting, 

msfer, concealment andlor expenditure of money. Similarly, I know that they also maintain records 

slating to their off-shore banking activity (if they do, in fact, have such accounts). In addition, I know 



2 lladdresses, telephone numbers and their meeting times. 

1 

275- Based upon my training and experience and discussioni with other agents from the IRS, FBI, 

4 and DCIS, I-am aware that individuals often attempt to hide their criminal activity behind a maze of I 
that they maintain addresses, appointment andlor telephone bcoks andlor papers reflecting names, 

different corporate entities. In this regard, I have $reviously observed that Kontogiannis utilizes a 

plethora of corporations to conduct his affairs. These corporations include: (1) Bond & Walsh 

lkonstructihn Company; (2) Axxion Group LLC; (3) Group Kappa Corp.; (4) Bm*kville Plaza 

ti ll~ana~ernent, Inc.; (5) Edgewater Development hc.; (6) 0-LackFarms hc.; (7) Edgewater Development 

I Homeowners Assoc.; (8) South Island Mortgage Corp.; (9) Loring Estates LLC; (10) Plato  oldi id^ LLC; 

lo (1 1) Waterway Properties; (12) Canusa Corp.; (13) Canusa C o p ;  (14) Glack Forms Inc.; (15) Chloe 

Foods Corp.; (16) 3301 Atlantic Avenue LLC; (17) Conat Realty LLC; (18) Triumph Abstract; (19) BRF 

Acquisition LLC; (20) Risk Management Services Group UC; (21) Westshore 480 Development LLC; 
l3 

14 

Performance Recovery Corporation; (4 1) 16 1 Hempstead Realty Corporation; (42) Byzantine 

Entertainment LLC; (43) Greenvale Financial Center Inc.; and (44) Emerald Estates, Ltd. 
21 

(22) Olympicorp Interqational LLC ; (23) Malba Bay Estates Inc.; (24) BRF Illinois; (25) InterAmercian 

Mortgage Corp.; (26) C.I.P. Mortgage Corporation; (27) Coastal Capital Corporation; (28) First 
15 

16 

17 
. 

18 

19 

Performance Corporation; (29) Performance Recovery Corporation; (30) ~uocash Inc.; (31) 

0nlinetelcard.com; (32) Suite 300 Services Corporation; (33) 0nlinetelcard.com; (34) Anperg .Inc.; (35) 

Worldwide Simulcasting Inc.; (36) Foresight Inc,; (37) LCK Services Corporation; (38) Oak Ridge 

Equine Center pro& Owocr's Association; (39) Oak Ridge Equine Properties, Inc.; (40) First 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

276. Records obtained from corporate data bases reveal that the Kontogiannis family owns or 

controls Brookville Plaza Management Inc. (1 Cross Island Plaza), CIP Mortgage Corporation (1 Cross 

Island Plaza, Rosedale, NY) , Foresight Inc. (12 WoodfieldLane, Glen Head), InterAmercian Mortgage 

Corp. (1 Cross Island Plaza, Rosedale, NY); LCK Services Corporation (1 Plaza Road, Suite LL1, 

Greenvale, NY); Oak Ridge Equine Center Property Owner's Association (4625 NW 110"' Avenue, 

Ocala, FL); Oak Ridge Equine Properties, Inc. (4625 NW 110' Avenue, Ocala, FL); First Performance 

Recovery Corporation (4901 NW 17" Way, Suite 201, Fort Lauderdale, FL); 161 Hempstead Realty 



Corporation (1 Cross Island Plaza, Rosedale, NY); Byzantine Entertainment LLC (12 Woodfield Lane, 

Old Brookville, NY); Greenvale Financial Center Inc. (1 Cross Lsland Plaza, Rosedale, NY); Group 

Kappa Corporation (1 Cross Island Plaza, Rosedale, NY); Emerald Estates Ltd. (1 Cross Island Plaza, 

Rosedale, NY); and Edgewater Development Inc. (920 115" Street, College Point, NY). 

277. Based upon my training and experience and discussions with other agents from the IRS, FBI, 

md DCIS, it is my opinion that all of the corporations discussed immediately above are synonymous with 

rommy Kontogiannis. In this regard, he utilizes all of these companies as his alter ego to establish his 

;enera1 business goals and to assist in his criminal activity. 

278. Based upon my training and experience and discussions with other agents from the IRS, FBI, 

md DCIS, it is my opinion that all of the bank accounts associated with Kontogiannis are utilized by him 

.o assist in his money laundering activities. In this regard, it is significant that the money sent to 

Parkview Financial by Brent Wilkes and Mitchell Wade cannot be traced to paying off the Mortgages 

leld on Cunningham's property. In fact, these funds appear to be transferred to other Kontogiannis 

-elated bank accounts in the names of his daughter and Olyrnpicorp. Only by obtaining all of the records 

-elated to the divers bank accounts controlled by Kontogiannis can the Government trace all of the funds 

hat Kontogiannis appears to be laundering for Cunningham. 

279. Based upon my training and experience and discussions with other agents from the FBI and 

RS, it is my opinion that all of the bank accounts associated with Kontogiannis contain evidence of tax 

~ffenses. Only by obtaining all of the records related to the divers bank accounts controlled by 

Kontogiannis can the Government obtain all of the evidence relevant to establish tax offenses against 

Kontogiannis and his related companies. 

280. The interrelated nature of Kontogiannis's bank accounts can also be seen by reference to the 

?arkview Financial operating account (no. 4724008182) that received the payments from Wilkes and 

Wade. A review of the July statement reflects a beginning balance of $143.19 and an ending balance of 

95,184.95- In between the account had deposits (credits) of $57 1,229.18 and withdrawals (debits) of 

9566,187.42. 



281. An examination of this one month reveals that Kontogiannis transferred virtually all of the 

;566,187.42 (except for approximately $300) to other bank accounts that he controlled, including 

)lympicorp (no. 4724008562), Parkview Financial (no. 4724008166), Parkview Financial (no. 

,724008158), Parkview Financial (no. 4724008174), Loring Estates (no. 47.24010329), Edgewater 

)evelopment IJXl (no. 4724008190), CIP Mortgage (no. 4724010915) and G-Lack Farms .(no. 

7240 1 16733). 

282. According to IRS Special Agent Jamie Harrison, the July-statement appears to be somewhat 

=presentative of Kontogiannis's practice of moving money between and through his various accounts. 

'or -. example, an examination of the May statement reflects a beginning balance -- of $13,152.09 and an 

riding balance of $93.82. ' In between the account had deposits (credits) of $3,987,128-04 and 

rithdrawals (debits) of $4,000,186.3 1. 

283. An examination of the May withdrawals reveals that Kontogiannis again transferred virtually 

I1 of the $4,000,186.3 1 (except for approximately $350) to other bank accounts he controlled, including 

oring Estates (no. 4724010329), Coastal Capital (no. 4724008752), Edgewater Development LLC (no. 

724008190), Parkview Financial (no. 4724008166), Parkview Financial (no. 4724008158), Olympicorp 

10.4724008562), Brookville Plaza Management Inc. (No. 4724006988) and Parkview Financial (no. 

284. Based upon my training and experience and discussions with other agents from the IRS, FBI 

nd DCIS, I am aware that individuals often keep where they reside personal effects and documents, 

icluding but nit limited to, utility and telephone bills, clothing, letterheadlpersonalized stationary, 

andwritten notes, receipts, photographs, answering machine tape recordings, telephone message pads, 

)lo&xes, storage records, vehicle records, cancelled mail envelopes, correspondence addressed to the 

remises and occupants, telephone and address books, electronic address books, personal identification 

:cords, and travel dochents. 

285. IRS Revenue Agent Leland Wright h&informed me that he has worked as a Revenue Agent 

3r over 30 years. In this capacity he has auditedliterally hundreds, if not thousands, of tax returns. Based 

n his experience and training, Agent Wright stated that an individual such as Kontogiannis who was 
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ssociated with so many different businesses would maintain a large number of books and records in 

)rder to conduct their business activity and track their finances. 

286. According to Agent Wright, these books and records would normally include: income tax 

etums (including Forms 112071120S, 1065,1040,940,941, DE-3); income tax information documents 

including Forms 1099, W-2, W-4, K-1), supporting work papers, summary sheets and analyses; 

locuments relating to any corporate audits; corporate journals (including general journals, cash receipts 

~urnals, cash disbursement journals, sales journals, purchase journals and payroll journals); general and 

ubsidiary ledgers (including payroll, accounts receivable, accounts payable, purchases); chart of 

ccounts, adjusting and closing entries, year end trial balances, corporate minutes, bylaws and Articles 

f Incorporation; employee lists and employee contracts; documents showing the receipt or disbursements 

if cash (including records of royalties, credit card statements and receipts, invoices, records of 

ornmercial storage, cash reconciliation's. and records regarding any purchase or sale of assets); loan 

ocuments to or from shareholders and related entities with payment history; other loan documents; 

wentory records; financial statements; contracts (including contract bids and proposals); mortgage 

xords or other documentation supporting conveyhces andor ownership of property; documents and 

xords relating to other corporations, limited liability companies, partnerships and other entities which 

ave related ownership. 

287. IRS Agent Wright stated that an individual such as Kontogiannis who was associated with so 

m y  different businesses would also normally maintain a large volume of records related to their 

)anking activity (including bank statements, check registers, passbooks, deposit and withdrawal slips, 

ancelled checks, certificates of deposit, notes, account applications, negotiable instruments, safety 

leposit box records and keys, money drafts, letters of credit, money orders, cashiers'checks and receipts 

or same, bank checks, wire transfers and bank reconciliations). 

288. Based upon my training and experience, I am aware that owners, managers and operators of 

usinesses keep records at regional and corporate offices. These records include various Accounting 

ournals (e,lz,, Sales, Purchase, Sales Returns and Allowance, Adjusting Journals) and Business Ledgers 

u, General, Accounts Payable, Accounts Receivable, Payroll and Subsidiary Ledgers). In addition, 
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know that businesses also frequently maintain a variety of records to manage their payroll, inventory 

nd tax situation. Similarly, they m k t  also maintain various financial records such as contracts, bank 

tatements, cancelled checks, invoices and sales receipts in order to conduct their normaI business 

ctivities. 

289. Records also include audio recordings, video recordings, telephone answering machine 

xording, memoranda, correspondence, diaries, notes, address books, day planners, calendars, 

ppointment books, newspaper clippings, articles, books, financial institution records, checks, cashiers' 

hecks, money orders, wire transfer records, deposit slips, ATM receipts, certificates of deposit, safety 

eposit slips, withdrawal slips, monthly and quarterly statements, stock certificates, bonds, bearer 

kstruments, notes, money market account statements, negotiable orders of withdrawal, account 

xuments, letters of credit, passbooks, drafts, title documents, mortgage and loan documents, property 

:cords, storage agreements and bills, storage locker keys, vehicle registration and ownership documents, 

;set ownership records, journals, ledgers, code sheets, financials, budgets, proposals, plans, contracts, 

pements, bills of sale, delivery records, invoices, receipts, documentation of conveyances, deeds, &d 

.edit card bills and other papers. These records may bein many forms such as paper, electronic, or in 

)de. I know from nifc experience that businesses use such software as Quickbooks and Microsoft Money 

I manage their finances -and track their investments. 

290. Based upon my training and experience I h o w  that persons who own laptop computers, .&sks, 

p drives, and zip disks frequently transport them between work and home so that they are accessible 

any time. 

VI. 

ELECTRONIC DATA 

29 1. Based upon my training and experience, I am aware that it is customary for businesses to store 

xuments in both "hard copy" and electronic form, including but not limited to, computer printouts, 

)mputer disks, zip disks, hard drives, other memory storage media. 



292. Due to the likelihood of finding much of the evidence contained in Attachment "B" in 

:lectronic form, the Government will obtain "forensic images" (whenever possible) of documents and 

ecords maintained in such fashion. With the Court's approval (as reflected by the signing of this 

varrant), the agents executing this search warrant will employ the following procedures regarding 

omputers located on the premises that may contain infomation subject to seizure. 

Forensic Imaging 

293. According to IRS Special Agent and CornputerInformation Specialist, RogerLange, a forensic 

nage is an exact physical copy of a computer hard drive or other similar electronic storage media. A 

xensic image thus captures all of the data on the hard drive (or other media) without the data being 

iewed and without changing the data in any way. 

294. The process of taking a forensic image of a computer stands in sharp contrast to what transpires 

(hen an agent attempts to examine, access and retrieve information stored on an actual computer located 

t a search warrant location. Indeed, merely starting a computerrunning the common W@dows operating 

ystem (even if only to peruse and copy data) may irretrievably change some of the data contained on the 

Dmputer. 

295. In fact, when a computer running Windows is started, the operating system proceeds to write 

undreds of new files about its status and operating environment. These new files may be written to 

laces on the hard drive that may contain deleted or other remnant data. That data, if overwritten, is lost 

cmanently. 

296. In addition, every time a file is accessed, unless the access is done by trained professionals 

sing special equipment, methods and software, the operating system will re-write the metadata for that 

de? If an agent merely o p s  a file to look at it, Windows will overyrite the metadata that previously 

:fleeted the last time the file was accessed This lost information at times may prove critical. 

E$ Metadata is information about a N e  that a computer uses to manage information. 



kcordingly, it is essential that a forensic image be obtained prior to conducting any search of the data 

or information subject to seizure pursuant to this warrant.m 

297. Special software, methodology and equipment are used to obtain forensic images that maintain 

he integrity of the evidence and ensure that the rights and interests of all parties are protected. Among 

~ther things, forensic images normally are "hashed" (i-e., subjected to a mathematical algorithm to the 

pularity of lo3' power).= The resulting number, known as a "hash value," confirms that the forensic 

mage is an exact copy of the original and thus serves to protect the integrity of the image in perpetuity. 

iny change, no matter how small, to the forensic image will affect the hash value so that the image can 

LO longer be verified as a true copy. 

298. After securing the premises, the executing agents will consult with a computer specidist to 

&ermine the feasibility of obtaining forensic images of electronic storage devices while onsite. The 

ecision whether it is feasible to "image" the electronic data onsite will be based upon the number of 

evices, the nature of the devices and the volume of data to be imaged. The preference (and operating 

Jan) will be to image the data onsite if it can be dine: (1) in a reasonable amount of time; (2) without 

eopardizing the integrity of the data; and (3) without jeopardizing the safety of the agents. 

299. The number and type of computers and other devices and the number, type and size of hard 

hives are of critical importance. It can take several hours to image a single hard drive - the bigger the 

hive, the longer it takes. As additional devices and hard drives are added, the length of time that the 

gents must remain onsite can become overly intrusive, dangerous and impractical. 

300. If it is not feasible to image the data on-site, the computer equipment and any peripherals will 

c seized and transported offsite for imaging. . 

871 - As mentioned above, the computer may have stored information about the data at issue: 
who created it, when it was created, when was it last accessed, when was it last modified, when was it 
last printed and when it was deleted. Sometimes it is 'pssible to recover an entire document that never 
was saved to the hard drive if the document was printed. Operation of the computer by non-forensic 
technicians effectively destroys this and other trace evidence. 

881 - It should be noted that lo3' power is an incredibly large number that is indicative of the 
imaging process being far more accurate than the best DNA testing available today. 



Forensic Andvsis 

301. According to Agent Lange, there are many reasons why it is not feasible to conduct a forensic 

nalysis of data on-site. First, as discussed above, a forensic image must fmt  be obtained to ensure the 

~tegrity and accuracy of the data. Moreover, analysis of the data following the creation of the forensic 

nage is a highly technical process that requires specific expertise, equipment and software. 

302. Second, there are literally thousands of different hardware items and software program that 

an be commercially purchased, installed and customconfigured on a user's computer system. Most 

omputers are easily customized by their users. Even apparently identical computers in an ofice 

nvironment can be significantly different with respect to their configuration, including permissions and 

ccess rights, passwords, data storage and security. 

303. Third, it is only after a thorough examination and analysis, that a trained computer forensic 

xaminer can determine whether he needs to obtain specialized hardware or software (not to mention 

pecialized training on the specialized software) in order to view and analyze the data contained in 

lectronic form. 

304. As explained by Agent Lange, the analysis of data on a computer is also an extremely tedious 

nd time consuming process. In addition, to requiring special technical skills, equipment and software, 

may take days to properly search a single hard drive for specific data-89/ With current technology, each 

=arch "hit" must be reviewed in its context by an agent to determine whether the data is within the scope 

f the warrant. In other words, merely finding a good "hit" does not end the review process. 

305. Analyzing data on-site has become increasingly impossible as the volume of data stored on a 

@.pica1 computer system has become mind-boggling. For example, a single gigabyte of storage space 

I.e., 1,000 megabytes) is the equivalent of 500,000 double-spaced pages of text. Computer hard drives 

891 - For example, a search for the word "kill" during a homicide investigation could find 
thousands of positive hits; some due to the fact that the subject might have wanted to kill the victim and 
memorialized that intention. The vast majority of search hits, however, would not be relevant because 
the term "kill" also is a valid command used by software in the normal operation of a computer (not to 
mention a word that is commonly used in a variety of other contexts having nothing to do with 
murdering a person). 



r e  now capable of storing 100s of gigabytes of data and are becoming quite common in newer desktop 

:omputers. In addition to the sheer volume, the data may be stored in a variety of formats or encrypted 

%e voIume of data of course extends the time that it takes to analyze the image in a 1aboratory.g 

lunning keyword searches takes longer and results in more hits that must be individually examined for 

elevance. Moreover, certain file formats do not lend themselves to keyword searches (e.g., many 

:ommon electronic mail, database and spreadsheet applications do riot store data as searchable text). 

306. Microsoft Outlook is an example of a commonly used program that stores data in a non-textual, 

roprietary manner that cannot be accessed via an ordinary keyword search. Similarly, documents printed 

by (and faxes sent to) a computer - even if never saved to the hard -. drive - are conceivably recoverable 

by forensic examiners, but not discoverable by keyword searches because printed document and faxes 

re  stored as graphic images, not as text. 

307. Based on the foregoing, searching any computer or forensic image for the information subject 

o seizure pursuant to this warrant may require a range of data analysis techniques and may take weeks 

Ir even months. The time frame may also need to be extended as keywords and other search techniques 

vill undoubtedly need to be modified based upon preliminary results obtained Further, criminals often 

nislabel and hide files and directories, use codes to avoid discovery by using keyword searches, encrypt 

iles, deliberately misspell certain words, delete files and take other steps to defeat law enforcement. In 

ight of these difficulties, it may be necessary to use a variety of data analysis techniques necessary to 

ocate and retrieve digital evidence that is within the scope of this warrant. . 
308. Nevertheless, all forensic analysis of the imaged data will be directed exclusively to the 

dentification and seizure of information within the scope of this warrant. In the course of proper 

:xamination, the forensic examiner may view information that is potentially privileged or not within the 

cope of the warrant. If so, this information will not be made available to the investigating agents unIess 

t appears to the examiner that the infonnation relates to the cornmission of offenses not covered by this 

90/ Even perusing file structures can be laborious if the user is well-organized. On the other 
hand, producing only a directory listing of a home computer can result in thousands of pages of printed 
material most of which likely will be of limited probative value. 



vanant. In that event, the examiner will confer with the investigator andor the prosecuting attorney so 

hat they can determine whether to seek a further search warrant for the newly uncovered data? 

VII. 

CONCLUSION 
/' 

309. Based on all of the above, my experience and training, a review of documents and other 

elevant information I believe to be reliable, witness interviews, and discussions with other IRS, DCIS 

nd FBI Special Agents, it is my opinion that Congressman Randall H. Cunningham, aka Duke, aka Duke. 

hnningham, aka the Dukester, Mitchell Wade, Brent Wilkes, Joel Combs, Thomas Theodore 

:ontogiannis, aka Tommy K, John Michael, MZM, Inc., ADCS, Inc., 1523 New Hampshire;LLC, 

:oastal Capital, Parkview Financial, Inc., Axxion Mortgage Corp., &d other individuals and entities have 

,iolated the following federal laws, among others: (I) Bribery in violation of Title 18, United States 

:ode, Section 201; (2) Making False Claims in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 287; 

3) Making False Statements or Concealing Facts in violation of Title 18, United States- Code, Section 

In order to effectively search the computer, it may be necessary to seize: (1) computer 
hardware used to prepare or store the records sought pursuant to the warrant. This hardware can consist 
of all equipment that can collect analyze, create, display, convert, store, conceal, or transmit electronic, 
magnetic, optical, or similar computer impulses or data. This includes, but is not limited to, any data- 
processing devices (such as central processing units, self-contained "laptop or notebook" computers); 
internal and peripheral storage devices (such as fvred or "hard" disks or drives, floppy disk drives, 
diskettes, tape drives and tapes, optical storage devices, Flash Media, and other memory storage 
devices); peripheral inputloutput devices (such as keyboards, printers, scanners, plotters, video display 
monitors, and optical readers); and related communications devices (such as modems, cables and 
connections, recording equipment, RAM or ROM units, DVD units, automatic dialers, speed dialers, 
programmable telephone dialing or signaling devices, and electronic tone generating devices); (2) Any 
devices, mechanisms, or parts that can be used to restrict access to computer hardware (such as physical 
keys and locks), including any and all computer passwords and other data security devices that are 
designed to restrict access to or hi& computer software, documentation or data, (3) Any and all 
computer software, that is, digital information that can be interpreted by a computer and any of its related 
components to direct the.way they work. This includes, but is not limited to, programs to run operating 
systems, applications (like word processing, graphics, or spreadsheet programs), utilities, compilers, 
interpreters, and communications programs; (4) Any and all computer-related documentation, including, 
but not limited to, written, recorded, printed, or electronically stored material that explains or illustrates 
how to configure or use computer hardware, software, or other related items; and (5) Any and al l  
inputloutput peripheral devices associated with the computer hardware, software, passwords or data 
security devices listed in sub-paragraphs (1) through (4) above that would allow users to enter or retrieve 
data from such items. All computer hardware and software utilized to store information or data in the 
form of electronic or magnetic coding on computer media or on media capable of being read by a 
computer or computer-related equipment. These media include, but are not limited to, fixed hard drives 
and removable hard drive cartridges, laser disks, tapes, floppy disks, hard diskettes, CD-ROMs, DVDs, 
Flash Memory and any other media capable of storing magnetic coding. 



001; (4) Mail Fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341; (5) Wire Fraud in 

riolation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343; (6) Honest Services Fraud in violation of Tide 

.8, United States Code, Section 1346; (7) Money LaunderiTlg in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

kctions 1956 and 1957; (8) Tax Evasion in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7201; and 

9) Conspiracy to commit the above listed offenses in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

171. 

310. Based on all of the above, my experience and training, a review of documents md other 

elevant information I believe to be reliable, witness interviews, and discussions with other IRS, DCIS 

nd FBI Special Agents, it is my opinion that there is probable cause to believe that the following items 
-. 

et forth in Attachment B to each search warrant (incorporated by reference herein) are present at 1 Cross 

sland Plaza, Suite L U , ,  Rosedale, ~ e w  York , as more fully described in Attachments A (incorporated 

by reference herein). 

311. Based on all of the above, my experience and training, a review of documents and other 

elevant information I believe to be reliable, witness interviews, and discussions with other TRS, DCIS 

nd FBI Special Agents, it is my opinion that the items listed in Attachment B are fruits, instrumentalities 

a evidence of: (1) Bribery and unlawful gratuities in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

-01; (2) Making False Claims in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 287; (3) Making False 

katements or Concealing Facts in violation of Tide 18, United States Code, Section 1001; (4) MailFraud 

n violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341; (5) Wire Fraud in violation of Title 18, United 

htes Code, Section 1343; (6) Honest Services Fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

iection 1346; (7) Money Laundering in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 and 

957; (8) Tax Evasion in violation of Title 26, United States Code, Section 7201; and (9) Conspiracy to 

ommit the above listed offenses in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. 

312. Based on all of the above, my experience and training, a review of documents and other 

elevant information I believe to be reliable, witness interviews, and discussions with other IRS, DCIS 

nd FBI Special Agents, it is my opinion that the premature disclosure of the contents of this affidavit 

night compromise this investigation by leading to the destruction of evidence, interference with potential 



bvernment witnesses named in this affidavit, or the creation of false exculpatory evidence. In addition, 

lis affidavit discusses information obtained through operation of a federal grand jury, and the operations 

nd personnel of a component of the nation's national security and counterintelligence network. For these 

xisons, it is requested that this affidavit be filed under seal. 

WHEREFORE, the undersigned requests warrants to search for the fruits, instnunentalities or evidence 

sted in Attachment B to each warrant, based upon the above-described facts supplying probable cause 

1 believe that fruits, instrumentalities and evidence of the above-specified offenses exists at the premises 

escribed in Attachment A to each warrant supported by this Affidavit. 

FBI sp&al Agent 

lwom to and subscribed 
iefore me this 21st day 

l e  Honorable William Wall 
Jnited States Magistrate-Judge 

!astern District of New York 

OTG-S WCI P-0248068 


